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Report of the statutory auditor
Report of the statutory auditor to the General 
Meeting of Liechtensteinische Landesbank 
Aktiengesellschaft Vaduz

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion
As Group auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial state-

ments (income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, 

balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash 

flows and notes to the financial statements: pages 112 to 188) and the 

Group annual report (pages 110 to 111) of Liechtensteinische Landes-

bank Group (LLB Group) for the year ending as at 31 December 2016.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 

in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and comply with Liechtenstein law.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards promul-

gated by the profession in Liechtenstein and the International Stand-

ards on Auditing (ISAs), which require an audit to be planned and 

conducted so as to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consol-

idated financial statements and the Group annual report are free from 

material misstatement. We audited the items and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements by means of analyses and surveys 

on a sample basis. 

Further, we assessed the application of the relevant accounting 

standards, significant decisions concerning the valuations and the 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements as a whole. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-

propriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our audit approach
Overview

Overall Group materiality:  

CHF 5.7 million

We concluded full scope audit work at 

four reporting units in two countries.

Our audit scope addressed 97 % of profit 

before tax and 99 % of the balance sheet 

total.

As key audit matters, the following areas of focus have been iden - 

tified:

 ◆ Valuation of customer loans 

 ◆ Impairment testing of goodwill 

 ◆ Completeness and adequacy of the provisions for legal and 

litigation risks

Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the 

risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial state-

ments. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were 

made. For example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that 

involved making assumptions and considering future events that are 

inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk 

of management override of internal controls, including among other 

matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that rep-

resented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient 

work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, 

the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the 

Group operates.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. 

Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable assurance that the con-

solidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered 

material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-

pected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quan-

titative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the 

 table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped 

us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and 

extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstate-

ments, both individually and in aggregate on the consolidated finan-

cial statements as a whole.



106
Report of the statutory auditor

LLB Annual Report 2016

Overall Group 

materiality 

CHF 5.7 million

How we determined it 5 % of profit before tax

Rationale for the 

materiality benchmark 

applied

We chose profit before tax as the 

bench mark because, in our view, it is the 

benchmark against which the perfor-

mance of LLB Group is most commonly 

measured, and it is a generally accepted 

benchmark.

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to them 

misstatements above CHF 0.3 million identified during our audit as 

well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, 

warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Reporting on key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judge-

ment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated finan-

cial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 

in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide  

a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of loans

Key audit matter

LLB Group grants loans to private individuals, corporates and public 

entities, primarily located in Liechtenstein and Switzerland. 

Loans amount to CHF 11.5 billion (previous year: CHF 11.0 billion) and 

thus represent the largest asset item of LLB Group. Mortgage- based 

loans form the majority of the loan portfolio (86.5 % of total loans). In 

addition, LLB Group grants corporate loans and Lombard loans. 

Any impairments are recognised by means of individual value ad-

justments. To this end, judgement has to be applied to calculate the 

amount of the individual value adjustment. We focused on the two 

following audit matters: 

 ◆ The method used by LLB Group to identify any loans that may need 

adjusting, including loans that show indications of impairment 

 according to the definition of LLB Group.

 ◆ The appropriate and consistent application of the policies and in-

structions issued by Group management relating to the calculation 

of the amount of the individual value adjustment. 

The accounting and valuation principles applied to loans, the method 

used to identify the default risk and to determine the need for impair-

ment as well as the evaluation of the coverage are taken from the 

management report. 

Please refer to page 121 (accounting principles), page 134 (comments 

on the consolidated balance sheet) and page 174 (risk management in 

relation to credit risks).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We tested the adequacy and effectiveness of the following key controls 

relating to the valuation of customer loans: 

 ◆ Credit processing and authorisation: Sample testing of the require-

ments and processes set out in the Group’s internal policies and 

working instructions in relation to credit processing. We also tested 

that authorisation is performed at the proper level in accordance 

with the system of authorities.

 ◆ Credit monitoring (periodic re-approval): Sample testing of identi-

fied bad debts and identifying the potential need for impairment.

Where significant judgement is required, we also put forward our own 

critical opinion as part of the substantive tests of detail on the author-

ity to grant loans. Our tests of detail covered the following:

 ◆ Sample-based testing of new business and risk positions (including 

positions with individual value adjustments or indications of im-

pairment) to evaluate whether additional value adjustments are 

needed.

 ◆ Sample-based testing of the method used to calculate value adjust-

ments in terms of its appropriateness and compliance with the pol-

icies and working methods issued by the Group.

The combination of the audit of key controls and the tests of detail 

gives us sufficient assurance to assess the valuation of customer loans 

as adequate. 

The assumptions used by LLB Group are in line with our expec- 

 tations.
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Impairment testing of goodwill

Key audit matter

The goodwill at the level of LLB Group in the Retail & Corporate Bank-

ing segment as at 31 December 2016 amounts to CHF 55.6 million (pre-

vious year: CHF 55.6 million) and originates from the acquisition of a 

subsidiary bank. 

LLB Group performed impairment tests on the goodwill twice dur-

ing the year. For the test, the value in use must be higher than the 

carrying amount. LLB Group uses a discounted cash flow (DCF) valu-

ation method. The DCF method calculates the value in use based on 

the expected future cash flows. The method uses the following key 

assumptions and judgements: 

 ◆ Assumptions regarding expected cash flows. 

 ◆ Assumptions regarding the discount rate and the long-term growth 

rate.

Please refer to page 124 (accounting principles) and page 141 (com-

ments on the consolidated balance sheet).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We based our audit on the analyses and calculations performed by 

Group management. With the involvement of a valuation expert, we 

performed the following audit procedures: 

 ◆ Plausibility check of the analyses performed by LLB Group relating 

to the indications of a need for impairment.

 ◆ Assessment of the appropriateness of the DCF method and its 

implementation.

 ◆ Plausibility check of the medium-term planning of the subsidiary 

bank and an assessment of the expected cash flows by means of   

a target vs. actual comparison (backtesting).

 ◆ Plausibility check of the assumed growth rate and discount rate 

based on external market information.

 ◆ Tests of the sensitivity analysis of the applied parameters and 

assumptions.

The assumptions used by LLB Group are in line with our expec- 

tations.

Completeness and adequacy of the provisions for legal and litigation risks

Key audit matter

In the course of normal business, LLB Group is involved in various legal 

proceedings. The amount of the provisions for legal and litigation risks 

as of 31 December 2016 is CHF 47.0 million (previous year: CHF 24.0 

million). 

We identified the completeness and the adequacy of the provisions 

for legal and litigation risks as a key audit matter, as significant judge-

ment exists in the assessment of the probability and the amount of 

the provisions for any financial obligations.

This includes processes to identify, evaluate and monitor client com-

plaints as well as potential and actual legal proceedings. LLB Group 

creates provisions for actual and impending proceedings if, in the opin-

ion of the specialists responsible, a cash outflow or a loss by the Group 

company is probable and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Please refer to page 125 (accounting principles), page 146 (comments 

on the consolidated balance sheet) and page 182 (risk management in 

relation to operational and legal risks).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We based our audit on the analyses performed by Group manage-

ment. Further, we have referred to external lawyers’ letters. We com-

pared the analyses with our own estimates and our understanding of 

the legal and litigation risks.

We performed the following audit procedures:

 ◆ Inquiries of the Head of Group Legal and specific Group manage-

ment members.

 ◆ Review and inspection of the list of client complaints, correspond-

ence with the regulatory authority as well as the minutes of the 

meetings of the Board of Directors and the Group management for 

indications of potential lawsuits.

 ◆ Review of the central inventory of current legal proceedings and 

sample testing of lawsuits with regard to the potential need for 

provisions.

 ◆ Obtaining external lawyers’ letters and expert opinions on selected 

ongoing lawsuits with regard to the probability and amount of the 

provisions, and comparing this with the provisions created by   

LLB Group as per the consolidated financial statements.

The assumptions used by LLB Group are in line with our expec- 

tations.
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Other information in the annual report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the 

annual report. The other information comprises all information in-

cluded in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated 

 financial statements, the stand-alone financial statements and our 

auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 

 cover the other information in the annual report and we do not ex-

press any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments, our responsibility is to read the other information in the annual 

report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be ma-

terially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we con-

clude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the  
consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consol-

idated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with IFRS and the provisions of Liechtenstein law, and for such internal 

controls as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of 

Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance that the consol-

idated financial statements as a whole are free from material mis-

statement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 

of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accord-

ance with Liechtenstein law and ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial state- 

 ments.

As part of an audit in accordance with Liechtenstein law and ISAs, 

we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scep-

ticism throughout the audit. We also:

 ◆ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the con-

solidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,  

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material mis-

statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

 ◆ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made.

 ◆ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-

stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 ◆ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of 

the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

 evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a mater-

ial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our audi-

tor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern.

 ◆ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the con-

solidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

under lying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

 ◆ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business activities within the Group 

to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 

of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or the Group Audit Com-

mittee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any signi ficant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or the Group Audit Commit-

tee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

 requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 

them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related 

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or the 

Group Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of 
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most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We de-

scribe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be com-

municated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 

so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

bene fits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The consolidated management report is in accordance with the con-

solidated financial statements. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submit-

ted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Thomas Romer Claudio Tettamanti

 Auditor in charge

St. Gallen, 27 February 2017 



110
Consolidated management report

LLB Annual Report 2016

Consolidated management report
LLB Group financial statement

The consolidated financial statement is prepared in accordance with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

In the 2016 business year, the LLB Group earned a net profit of  

CHF 103.9 million (2015 business year: CHF 86.3 million). The net profit 

for 2016 therefore improved in comparison with the previous year by 

20.4 percent or CHF 17.6 million. 

In comparison with 2015, operating income rose by 18.7 percent and 

operating expenses by 16.8 percent. The net profit attributable to the 

shareholders of LLB amounted to CHF 98.2 million (2015: CHF 82.7 mil-

lion). Earnings per share stood at CHF 3.40 (2015: CHF 2.87).

Income statement

Operating income rose by 18.7 percent to CHF 371.7 million (2015:  

CHF 313.2 million).

Interest income before credit loss expense was up in the 2016 busi-

ness year by 4.2 percent to CHF 138.1 million (2015: CHF 132.5 million). 

Interest business with clients increased by 3.7 percent in comparison 

with the previous year. The negative effects on interest income caused 

by the extension of fixed-interest loans at lower conditions were com-

pensated for by lower refinancing costs and targeted growth in mort-

gage lending business. In the current interest rate environment, the 

LLB Group in some cases pays negative interest on interest rate hedg-

ing instruments and money invested in the interbank market. In spite 

of this, thanks to higher interest rates on USD holdings, LLB was able 

to slightly improve interest business with banks by 3.2 percent or   

CHF 0.3 million. In the 2016 business year, a net charge of CHF 1.0 

million (2015: CHF 6.0 million) was made to the income statement for 

credit loss expense. Net fee and commission income decreased slightly 

by 2.6 percent to CHF 145.7 million (2015: CHF 149.6 million). The per-

sisting uncertainty on the financial markets led to restraint on the part 

of clients in making stock market transactions, which resulted in  

a reduction of net brokerage of 10.6 percent compared with the previ-

ous year. The recovery of the financial markets in the second half year 

generated higher performance-linked earnings.

Net trading income totalled CHF 55.9 million (2015: CHF 33.1 mil-

lion). Client trading in foreign exchange, foreign notes and precious 

metals compared with the previous year fell by 2.7 percent to CHF 41.8 

million. In the previous year, the trading volume in foreign exchange 

was unusually high in the first half year due to the SNB’s lifting of sup-

port for the minimum euro exchange rate in January 2015. On account 

of the higher long-term market interest rates in the second six months 

of 2016, from the perspective of the reporting date, valuation gains on 

interest rate hedging instruments for the 2016 business year amount-

ed to CHF 14.1 million (2015: minus CHF 10.1 million). 

Net income from financial investments at fair value through profit 

and loss totalled CHF 21.8 million (2015: minus CHF 0.7 million). In-

come from interest and dividends decreased to CHF 14.9 million, a fall 

of 17.4 percent compared with the previous year on account of persist-

ently low interest rates and a lack of investment possibilities. 

Other income amounted to CHF 11.1 million in comparison with   

CHF 4.8 million in the previous year. The change relative to the com-

parison period was attributable to the proceeds from the sale of prop-

erty amounting to CHF 7.5 million. Operating expenses stood at  

CHF 258.2 million and were thus 16.8 percent or CHF 37.1 million higher 

than the previous year’s figure of CHF 221.1 million. 

Operating income (in CHF millions)

 Net interest income after credit loss expense 

 Net fee and commission income

 Net trading income

 Net income from financial investments 

 Other income 

At CHF 140.8 million, personnel expenses were up by 13.8 percent or 

CHF 17.1 million compared with the previous year (2015: CHF 123.8 mil-

lion). The increase is attributable to the strategic expansion of person-

nel to 858 full-time equivalent positions (31.12.2015: 816). In addition, 

higher accruals were made for variable salary compensation on ac-

count of the share-price-based compensation model. Personnel ex-

penses also include one-time expense reductions from the valuation 

of staff pension obligations amounting to CHF 10.2 million. In the 

previous year a one-time reduction of pension obligations of CHF 11.3 

million had also been booked. 

General and administrative expenses increased by 41.2 percent to 

CHF 89.9 million (2015: CHF 63.7 million). This position includes the 

allocation of provisions for various legal and litigation risks amounting 

to CHF 24.4 million (2015: write back of CHF 1.0 million). Without this 

effect, general and administrative expenses would have been CHF 1.8 

million or 2.8 percent higher than in the previous year. 
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Depreciation and amortisation fell by CHF 6.1 million to CHF 27.5 mil-

lion (2015: CHF 33.7 million). This was largely attributable to the one-

time impairment of assets in the previous year. 

The Cost-Income-Ratio for the 2016 business year stood at 62.8 per-

cent (2015: 69.5 %). Without market effects, i.e. without income from 

interest rate swaps and price gains from financial investments, the 

Cost-Income-Ratio stood at 66.5 percent (2015: 63.7 %).

Balance sheet

The consolidated balance sheet total remained virtually unchanged in 

comparison with 31 December 2015 and stood at CHF 20.0 billion 

(31.12.2015: CHF 19.7 billion). Loans to clients were 5.0 percent higher 

compared with 31 December 2015. Mortgage loans expanded by   

4.2 percent to CHF 10.0 billion. 

Equity attributable to the shareholders of LLB amounted to CHF 1.7 

billion at 31 December 2016. The Tier 1 ratio totalled 21.0 percent 

(31.12.2015: 20.6 %). The return on equity attributable to the sharehold-

ers of LLB stood at 5.9 percent (2015: 5.0 %).

Assets under management

Assets under management at 31 December 2016 stood at CHF 46.4 

billion (31.12.2015: CHF 45.6 billion). The LLB Group attained a perform-

ance-related increase in assets under management of 1.9 percent. 

Assets in own-managed funds climbed by 3.5 percent to CHF 4.6 billion 

(31.12.2015: CHF 4.4 billion) and assets with discretionary mandates by 

2.3 percent to CHF 6.5 billion (31.12.2015: CHF 6.4 billion). Other assets 

under management amounted at 31 December 2016 to CHF 35.3 billion 

(31.12.2015: CHF 34.8 billion). 

The LLB Group registered net new money outflows of CHF 65 million 

(2015: minus CHF 206 million). Outflows have therefore slowed down. 

In contrast, however, the Retail & Corporate Banking segment gener-

ated very robust inflows of CHF 334 million from private and corporate 

clients in the domestic Swiss and Liechtenstein markets. And the Pri-

vate Banking segment also posted gratifying inflows totalling CHF 173 

million, especially from the strategic growth markets. On account of 

individual larger outflows with public institutions and in cross-border 

business, net new money inflows in the Institutional Clients segment 

amounted to minus CHF 568 million.

Assets under management (in CHF millions)

 Assets in own-managed funds

 Assets with discretionary mandates

 Other assets under management

Outlook

The LLB Group is confronted with economic and industry-specific chal-

lenges. The business environment is marked by the strength of the 

Swiss franc, negative interest rates and volatile financial markets. This 

is exacerbated by political uncertainties, increasing regulation and the 

accelerated pace of change with information technology, which will 

continue to challenge the banking industry. Thanks to its focused busi-

ness model and its clear StepUp2020 strategy, the LLB Group views 

the future with confidence. In spite of the challenging business condi-

tions, it expects to achieve further operative progress and a solid busi-

ness result in the 2017 business year. 
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Consolidated income statement

in CHF thousands Note 2016 2015 + / – %

Interest income 1 176'971 182'801 – 3.2

Interest expenses 1 – 38'905 – 50'347 – 22.7

Net interest income 1 138'067 132'454 4.2

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 13 – 989 – 6'036 – 83.6

Net interest income after credit loss expense 137'078 126'418 8.4

Fee and commission income 2 171'930 174'897 – 1.7

Fee and commission expenses 2 – 26'191 – 25'272 3.6

Net fee and commission income 2 145'739 149'625 – 2.6

Net trading income 3 55'943 33'084 69.1

Net income from financial investments at fair value 4 21'836 – 736

Share of net income of joint venture 17 0 – 13 – 97.3

Other income 5 11'070 4'785 131.4

Total operating income 371'665 313'163 18.7

Personnel expenses 6 – 140'835 – 123'782 13.8

General and administrative expenses 7 – 89'859 – 63'653 41.2

Depreciation and amortisation 8 – 27'548 – 33'657 – 18.2

Total operating expenses – 258'242 – 221'093 16.8

Operating profit before tax 113'423 92'070 23.2

Tax expenses 9 – 9'554 – 5'770 65.6

Net profit 103'869 86'301 20.4

Of which attributable to:

Shareholders of LLB 98'181 82'728 18.7

Non-controlling interests 33 5'688 3'573 59.2

Earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of LLB

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 10 3.40 2.87 18.6

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 10 3.40 2.87 18.6
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in CHF thousands Note 2016 2015 + / – %

Net profit 103'869 86'301 20.4

Other comprehensive income (net of tax), which can be reclassified to the income statement

Foreign currency translation – 541 – 2'280 – 76.3

Value changes to financial investments available for sale 5'600 864 548.3

Reclassified (gains) / losses to the income statement from financial investments available for sale – 1'522 59

Tax effects 25 – 393 0

Total other comprehensive income (net of tax),  
which can be reclassified to the income statement 3'144 – 1'358

Other comprehensive income (net of tax),  
which can not be reclassified to the income statement

Actuarial gains / (losses) of pension plans 40 – 15'778 – 21'724 – 27.4

Tax effects 25 1'935 1'519 27.4

Total other comprehensive income (net of tax),  
which can not be reclassified to the income statement – 13'843 – 20'205 – 31.5

Comprehensive income for the period 93'170 64'738 43.9

Of which attributable to:

Shareholders of LLB 87'457 62'988 38.8

Non-controlling interests 5'713 1'750 226.4

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income
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in CHF thousands Note 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 11 3'450'726 2'559'972 34.8

Due from banks 12 3'114'861 4'254'074 – 26.8

Loans 13 11'538'876 10'991'490 5.0

Trading portfolio assets 14 3'781 2'450 54.4

Derivative financial instruments 15 82'607 62'013 33.2

Financial investments at fair value 16 1'438'618 1'438'608 0.0

Investment in joint venture 17 47 47 – 0.8

Property and equipment 18 124'969 123'321 1.3

Investment property 18 16'018 16'240 – 1.4

Goodwill and other intangible assets 19 118'432 124'493 – 4.9

Current tax assets 1'205 0

Deferred tax assets 25 18'809 23'669 – 20.5

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 32'568 45'927 – 29.1

Non-current assets held for sale 35 845 0

Other assets 20 15'767 27'820 – 43.3

Total assets 19'958'129 19'670'122 1.5

Liabilities

Due to banks 22 622'932 673'634 – 7.5

Due to customers 23 15'860'465 15'627'049 1.5

Derivative financial instruments 15 161'976 151'593 6.8

Debt issued 24 1'228'035 1'213'244 1.2

Current tax liabilities 10'398 6'172 68.5

Deferred tax liabilities 25 13'745 21'617 – 36.4

Accrued expenses and deferred income 26'228 27'891 – 6.0

Provisions 26 51'071 25'354 101.4

Other liabilities 27 176'905 164'224 7.7

Total liabilities 18'151'755 17'910'777 1.3

Equity

Share capital 28 154'000 154'000 0.0

Share premium 29 24'968 25'785 – 3.2

Treasury shares 30 – 167'045 – 168'584 – 0.9

Retained earnings 31 1'758'816 1'709'205 2.9

Other reserves 32 – 74'511 – 63'849 16.7

Total equity attributable to shareholders of LLB 1'696'228 1'656'558 2.4

Non-controlling interests 33 110'146 102'787 7.2

Total equity 1'806'374 1'759'345 2.7

Total liabilities and equity 19'958'129 19'670'122 1.5

Consolidated balance sheet
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attributable to shareholders of

in CHF thousands Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Treasury 

shares
Retained 
earnings

Other 
reserves Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 
equity

As at 1 January 2014 154'000 26'299 – 167'816 1'645'490 – 5'663 1'652'309 103'934 1'756'243

Net profit 70'175 70'175 1'920 72'095

Other comprehensive income – 38'445 – 38'445 – 4'509 – 42'954

Net movements in treasury shares – 513 – 768 – 1'281 – 1'281

Dividend 2013, paid 2014 – 43'315 – 43'315 – 43'315

Dividend to non-controlling  
interests 2013, paid 2014 0 – 1'595 – 1'595

Increase / (Reduction) in  
non-controlling interests 0 1'771 1'771

Changes from own interests in 
fully consolidated companies – 485 – 485 – 485

Other changes – 591 – 591 – 591

As at 31 December 2014 154'000 25'785 – 168'584 1'671'273 – 44'108 1'638'366 101'521 1'739'888

Net profit 82'728 82'728 3'573 86'301

Other comprehensive income – 19'741 – 19'741 – 1'822 – 21'563

Net movements in treasury shares 29 / 30 0 0 0 0

Dividend 2014, paid 2015 31 – 43'233 – 43'233 – 43'233

Dividend to non-controlling  
interests 2014, paid 2015 33 0 – 1'609 – 1'609

Increase / (Reduction) in  
non-controlling interests 33 0 1'124 1'124

Changes from own interests in 
fully consolidated companies 31 – 227 – 227 – 227

Other changes 31 – 1'336 – 1'336 – 1'336

As at 31 December 2015 154'000 25'785 – 168'584 1'709'205 – 63'849 1'656'558 102'787 1'759'345

Net profit 98'181 98'181 5'688 103'869

Other comprehensive income – 10'724 – 10'724 25 – 10'699

Net movements in treasury shares 29 / 30 – 818 1'539 721 721

Dividend 2015, paid 2016 31 – 46'145 – 46'145 – 46'145

Dividend to non-controlling  
interests 2015, paid 2016 33 0 – 1'623 – 1'623

Increase / (Reduction) in  
non-controlling interests 31 / 32 / 33 – 2'426 62 – 2'363 3'269 906

As at 31 December 2016 154'000 24'968 – 167'045 1'758'816 – 74'511 1'696'228 110'146 1'806'374

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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in CHF thousands Note 2016 2015

Cash flow from / (used in) operating activities

Interest received (excluding financial investments) 194'923 195'676

Interest received from financial investments at fair value 21'903 17'304

Dividends received from financial investments at fair value 4 819 1'216

Interest paid – 43'815 – 50'848

Fees and commission received 168'557 157'842

Fees and commission paid – 25'469 – 14'478

Trading income 41'982 43'232

Other income 4'528 3'145

Payments for personnel, general and administrative expenses – 197'181 – 200'124

Other expenses 0 – 340

Income tax paid – 7'600 – 8'717

Cash flow from operating activities, before changes in operating assets and liabilities 158'648 143'909

Net due from / to banks 1'111'606 1'315'982

Trading portfolio and net replacement values 2'419 – 485

Loans / Due to customers – 318'890 – 430'000

Other assets 10'626 21'148

Other liabilities – 4'193 – 5'532

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 801'568 901'113

Net cash flow from / (used in) operating activities 960'215 1'045'022

Cash flow from / (used in) investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment 18 – 32'573 – 10'656

Disposal of property and equipment 18 26'457 2'001

Purchase of investment property 18 0 – 1'240

Disposal of investment property 222 6'383

Purchase of other intangible assets 19 – 8'999 – 3'074

Disposal of other intangible assets 19 1 0

Purchase of financial investments at fair value – 516'112 – 519'064

Disposal of financial investments at fair value 518'979 390'616

Sale of fully consolidated companies, net of cash 0 6'956

Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities – 12'025 – 128'079

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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in CHF thousands Note 2016 2015

Cash flow from / (used in) financing activities

Disposal of treasury shares 30 1'539 0

Dividends paid 31 – 46'145 – 43'233

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 33 – 1'623 – 1'609

Increase in non-controlling interests 31 / 32 / 33 906 1'124

Decrease in non-controlling interests 0 227

Issuance of medium-term debt 201'203 289'716

Repayment of medium-term debt – 190'488 – 229'434

Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities – 34'608 16'791

Effects of foreign currency translation 264 – 31'080

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 913'848 902'655

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 3'043'279 2'140'624

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 3'957'127 3'043'279

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash and balances with central banks 11 3'450'726 2'559'972

Due from banks (due daily) 12 506'401 483'307

Total cash and cash equivalents 3'957'127 3'043'279
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Accounting principles
1 Basic information

The LLB Group offers a broad spectrum of financial services. Of par-

ticular importance are asset management and investment counselling 

for private and institutional clients, as well as retail and corporate 

client businesses.

The Liechtensteinische Landesbank Aktiengesellschaft, founded in 

and with its registered office located in Vaduz, Principality of Liechten-

stein, is the parent company of the LLB Group. It is listed on the SIX 

Swiss Exchange.

The Board of Directors reviewed this consolidated annual statement 

at its meeting on 27 February 2016 and approved it for publication.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting and valuation methods employed in the 

preparation of this consolidated financial statement are described in 

the following. The described methods have been consistently em-

ployed for the reporting periods shown, provided no statement to the 

contrary is specified.

2.1 Basis for financial accounting

The consolidated financial statement has been prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Further basis for the preparation of the financial statement
The Group financial statement was prepared on the basis of historical 

acquisition or production cost with the exception of the revaluation 

of certain financial assets and liabilities.

Numerous new IFRS standards, as well as amendments and inter-

pretations of existing IFRS standards, were published and became 

effective for financial years starting on 1 January 2016 or later. The fol-

lowing new or revised IFRS standards or interpretations are of impor-

tance for the LLB Group:

 ◆ IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – The amendments clarify how deferred tax 

claims from unrealised losses on assets reported at fair value are to 

be recognised. The standard is to be applied retroactively and 

comes into effect on 1 January 2017. An earlier implementation is 

possible, but the LLB Group has not done so. The implementation 

of the changes has no major influence on the LLB Group’s financial 

statement.

 ◆ IAS 40 “Investment Property” – The amendments stipulate that  

in future the transfer of real estate into or out of the inventory of 

real estate held as financial investments is to be assessed on a prin-

ciple-based basis. In future, transfers will only be made if there is  

a change of use. In this case, it is to be assessed whether a property 

meets the definition of real estate held as a financial investment. In 

addition the change of use must be evidenced, i.e. there must be 

objective evidence of, and not just an intention for, a change of use. 

In comparison with the previous ruling, the list of examples was 

changed from an exhaustive to a non-exhaustive list. In relation to 

operating leases, in future the commencement of the leasing rela-

tionship will be relevant as the time point of the transfer, and no 

longer the start of the lease term. The amendments are effective for 

periods on or after 1 January 2018. Retrospective application is also 

possible if this is possible without the use of hindsight. An earlier 

implementation is possible, but the LLB Group will not do so.  

The implementation of the changes has no major influence on the 

LLB Group’s financial statement.

 ◆ IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” – The amendments concern rulings 

in connection with cash-settled share-based payments. An excep-

tion will continue to apply to share-based payments involving a so-

called net settlement feature. In this case, the tax to be paid by the 

employee will be paid directly to the competent tax authority by the 

company. Accordingly, the employee retains only the share-based 

payment amounting to the balance from the original entitlement 

and the tax liability. Only the net settlement feature could be of 

future relevance for LLB. At the moment this situation does not ex-

ist. The new rulings come into effect on 1 January 2018. Retrospec-

tive application is also possible if this is possible without the use of 

hindsight. An earlier implementation is possible, but the LLB Group 

will not do so. The implementation of the changes has no major 

influence on the LLB Group’s financial statement.

 ◆ IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” – IFRS 9 is divided into three phases: 

classification and measurement, impairment and hedge account-

ing. The classification and measurement of financial instruments 

are made on the basis of the business model of the bank for the 

management of financial instruments and the contractual cash 

flow characteristics of the financial assets. The financial instru-

ments are classified in the “Hold” business model and measured at 

amortised cost, if the purpose of the financial instrument is to gen-

erate interest earnings and payment of the principal upon maturity. 

If the financial instruments are held for liquidity management rea-

sons, i.e. for the purpose of holding and sale, then the instruments 

are to be recognised at fair value through other comprehensive in-

come. Gains and losses from this business model are booked in the 

statement of other comprehensive income and equity. Financial 

instruments which do not fulfil the SPPI criteria or which are used 

for the fair value option are to be classified as fair value through 

profit or loss. The new regulations will have no major impact be-

cause the LLB Group already reports the financial assets under   

IAS 39 in such a way that these correspond to the requirements of 

IFRS 9. Currently, there is a discussion about whether financial in-

struments are to be recognised at amortised cost, which permits 

early repayment and where the debtor is entitled to utilise the op-

tion of early repayment. The models under discussion concern 

 financial instruments, or mortgage loans, which enable a symmet-

rical early repayment or an early repayment at fair value. By utilis-

ing the option, there is a possibility that the debtor could be com-

pensated by the creditor. The board has decided to formulate  
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a closely defined exception which permits instruments with sym-

metrical early repayment penalties to be reported in the balance 

sheet at amortised cost or at fair value with recognition of the 

changes in other comprehensive income, even though they do not 

fulfil the criteria as “solely payments of principal and interest on the 

outstanding capital amount”. The proposed implementation date 

for this exception is 1 January 2018. This issue has no relevance for 

the LLB Group because basically agreements are concluded with 

clients which envisage unilateral compensation for the bank’s lost 

interest in the event of early repayment. 

On the basis of IFRS 9, impairments are to be recognised at an early 

stage (expected loss model). The amount of the impairment is de-

termined on the basis of the classification of the financial instru-

ment in one of the following three stages. In stage 1 there is no 

significant deterioration in credit quality and impairments amount-

ing to the cash value of a 12-month expected credit loss are to be 

recognised. If there is no objective indication of an impairment, but 

a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, the impairment is 

to be recognised in the expected life-time credit loss (stage 2). In 

stage 3, there must be an objective indication of an impairment and 

a single allowance (life-time expected loss) is to be made for this 

financial instrument. These three stages are to be reviewed on 

every balance sheet key date. The LLB Group is currently installing 

a software application to enable the correct replication of the re-

quirement to measure the expected losses. Various models are used 

in the calculation, which take into consideration the possible future 

probability of default by the counterparty, the expected loss, and 

also the loss given default. In addition, macro-economic forecasts 

are included in the calculation. The evaluation of which values 

should be applied to input parameters in the models, for example, 

what a significant increase in risk means and which level a financial 

instrument should be assigned to, therefore necessitate a high de-

gree of judgement. These estimates determine the credit quality of 

the financial assets, which are exposed to a credit risk, and which 

in turn have an impact on the magnitude of the expected losses. 

Generally, it is expected the expected loss model under IFRS 9 will 

lead to higher value adjustments. 

In addition, IFRS 9 regulates hedge accounting, whereby it seeks to 

standardise risk management and accounting. Hedges are to be 

better reflected in the financial accounts.

At present the LLB Group employs macro hedge accounting at port-

folio level, which is not yet regulated under IFRS 9. Until the com-

pletion of the IASB project in macro-hedge accounting, LLB can 

continue to follow unchanged its previous approach under IFRS 9. 

Consequently, there are no major effects on the LLB Group. The new 

standard comes into effect on 1 January 2018. An earlier implemen-

tation is possible, but the LLB Group will not do so. It will be applied 

retrospectively except for other provisions in individual paragraphs. 

In the case of paragraph 7.2.15, which deals with the disclosure of 

details concerning financial instruments in paragraphs 42L – 42O 

under IFRS 7, the LLB Group will provisionally choose the simplified 

application form, i.e. it will not show the comparison periods for 

the provisions specified there.

 ◆ IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” – In May 2014, 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), together 

with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), issued new 

regulations for the recognition of revenue, which completely re-

place the existing USGAAP and IFRS rulings for the recognition of 

revenue. The recognition requires that revenue be shown as goods 

or services transferred to the customer in an amount that reflects 

the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in ex-

change for those goods and services. IFRS 15 contains a 5-step  

model to calculate the revenue, whereby the type of transaction or 

the industry, in which the company operates is irrelevant. Further-

more the standard includes guidelines concerning the costs for the 

attainment and performance of a contract, as well as when such 

costs are to be capitalised. The standard specifies additional disclos-

ures. In general, for LLB, the introduction of IFRS 15 will have only  

a slight influence on the recognition, balancing, presentation and 

disclosure of such items. The primary reason for this is that IFRS 15 

is aimed mainly at industrial sectors and less at the financial servic-

es industry. Revenues from financial instruments, which represent 

the main business of LLB, do not fall under the provisions of IFRS 15 

but rather are shown according to IFRS 9. Currently, revenues from 

fees and commissions are reported in one position (one line). In 

 future, if they are material, further positions (lines) will be shown in 

a table to enable a more detailed presentation. LLB is therefore fol-

lowing the amendments to IAS 1 within the scope of the Disclosure 

Initiative, which are to be applied from 1 January 2016. According to 

one’s discretion, lines showing aggregated revenues may be pre-

sented, provided they do not bring the reader additional benefits if 

listed individually. The new standard comes into effect from 1 Janu-

ary 2018. An earlier implementation is possible, but the LLB Group 

will not do so. It will be applied retrospectively and on the basis of 

simplified transition provisions.

 ◆ IFRS 16 “Leasing” – The new standard regulates the recognition and 

disclosure of leasing contracts. Leasing contracts are understood to 

be contracts that convey the right to use an asset for a period of 

time in exchange for a consideration. This can be, for example, the 

leasing of premises or equipment. The IFRS 16 contains no material 

threshold values for when a leasing contract is to be recognised as 

an asset, rather all substantial leasing contracts are basically to be 

entered in the accounts. However options exist for short-term 

 leasing terms (shorter than 12 months) and for low-value assets. 

The entering of leasing contracts in the financial accounts leads to 

 a balance sheet extension, which basically has a negative impact on 

the regulatory required equity and also on the corresponding regu-

latory key figures, such as the Tier 1 ratio. The standard comes into 

effect on 1 January 2019. An earlier implementation is possible, but 

the LLB Group will not do so. It will be applied retrospectively, either 

completely or in a modified form. The effects of these changes on 

the LLB Group’s financial reporting are currently being analysed.
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 ◆ Disclosure Initiative of the IASB – The IASB has started a project to 

explore how disclosures in IFRS financial reporting can be im-

proved. This encompasses several smaller adjustments to the exist-

ing standard in addition to the comprehensive revision of the con-

ceptual framework, as well as a fundamental revision of IAS 1 

(“Presentation of Financial Statements”), IAS 7 (“Statement of Cash 

Flows”) and IAS 8 (“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

 Estimates and Errors”) ». The following explanations refer to the 

small adjustments to be made to the existing standards. The aim of 

the changes to IAS 1 is to provide companies with more latitude in 

how data is presented, e.g. by the aggregation or disaggregation of 

information. Basically, the issue of materiality also plays a role. 

 Materiality has to be viewed in relation to the entirety of the pre-

sented information. This can mean that specific details in standards 

are not presented if these are classed as being immaterial. The 

changes came into effect from 1 January 2016. The amendments to 

IAS 7 refer to changes in financial obligations arising from financing 

activity, including a separation into cash and non-cash changes. 

These come into effect from 1 January 2017. An earlier implementa-

tion is possible, but the LLB Group will not make use of this possi-

bility. The standard will be applied prospectively.

Within the scope of its annual improvements, the IASB published fur-

ther improvements (Annual Improvements to IFRS 2012 – 2014 Cycle), 

which came into effect on 1 January 2016. The implementation of the 

amendments has no major influence on the financial statement of the 

LLB Group.

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements
In preparing the financial statements in conformity with IFRS, the 

management is required to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities. Use of information available to LLB 

on the balance sheet date and application of judgement are inherent 

in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ 

from such estimates, and the differences could be substantial to the 

financial statements. 

The IFRS contains guidelines which require the LLB Group to make 

estimates and assumptions when preparing the consolidated financial 

statement. Allowances for credit loss risks, goodwill, intangible as-

sets, provisions for legal and litigation risks, fair value conditions for 

financial instruments and value adjustments for pension plans are all 

areas which leave large scope for estimate judgments. Assumptions 

and estimates made in theses areas could be substantial to the finan-

cial statement. Explanations regarding this point are shown under 

notes 13, 19, 26, 34 and 40.

2.2 Consolidation policies 

The consolidated financial statement adopts a business perspective 

and follows a financial format. The consolidation period corresponds 

to the calendar year. The financial year is identical to the calendar year 

for all consolidated companies. Solely LLB Invest AGmvK and LLB Qual-

ified Investors AGmvK have a different financial year; however, these 

companies are negligible for the preparation of the consolidated finan-

cial statement. The Swiss franc (CHF), the currency of the country in 

which LLB AG has its registered office, serves as the reporting currency 

of the LLB Group. 

Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statement incorporates the financial 

 accounts of Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG and its subsidiaries. 

LLB Group companies, in which Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG 

holds, directly or indirectly, the majority of the voting rights or other-

wise exercises control, are fully consolidated. Subsidiaries acquired are 

consolidated from the date control is transferred to Liechtensteinische 

Landesbank AG, and are no longer consolidated from the date this 

control ends.

The consolidation is carried out according to the purchase method. 

The effects of intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in 

preparing the financial statements. Transactions with minorities are 

booked to equity. 

Equity attributable to minority interests is presented in the consol-

idated balance sheet in equity, separately from equity attributable to 

LLB shareholders. Net profit attributable to minority interests is 

shown separately in the income statement.

Participations in joint ventures 
Joint ventures, i.e. companies in which LLB has a 50 percent participa-

tion, are recognised according to the equity method.

Changes to the scope of consolidation 
There were no changes to the scope of consolidation in the 2016 busi-

ness year.
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2.3 General principles 

Recording of business 
Sales and purchases from trading assets, derivative financial instru-

ments and financial investments are booked on the transaction date. 

Loans, including those to clients, are recorded in that period of time in 

which the funds flow to the borrower. 

Income accrual 
Income from services is recorded at the time the service was rendered. 

Asset management fees, safe custody fees and similar types of income 

are recorded on a pro rata basis over the period the specific service is 

provided. Interest income is recorded using the effective interest  

method. Dividends are recorded at the time point a legal claim comes 

into existence.

Inland versus abroad
“Inland” encompasses the Principality of Liechtenstein and Swit - 

zerland.

2.4 Foreign currency translation 

Functional currency and reporting currency 
The items contained in the financial accounts of each Group company 

are valued in the currency which is used in the primary business en-

vironment in which the company operates (functional currency). 

The reporting currency of the LLB Group is the Swiss franc.

Group companies 
Group companies which report their financial accounts in a func-

tional currency other than the Group’s reporting currency are trans-

lated as follows: all assets and liabilities are converted at the rele-

vant exchange rate valid on the balance sheet date. All individual 

items in the income statement and statement of cash flows are 

converted at the average exchange rate for the accounting period. 

All resulting exchange differences are booked individually to equity 

or other comprehensive income.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated on the day of the trans-

action at spot rates into the functional currency. Monetary assets and 

liabilities in foreign currency are translated on the balance sheet date 

at the exchange rate prevailing on the reporting date into the func-

tional currency. The price gains or losses resulting from the valuation 

are booked to the income statement. Non-monetary foreign currency 

positions measured at fair value are translated at the exchange rate 

prevailing on the date of the calculation of the fair value. The following 

exchange rates were employed for foreign currency conversion:

Reporting date rate 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

1 USD 1.0167 0.9989

1 EUR 1.0726 1.0871

1 GBP 1.2588 1.4783

Average rate 2016 2015

1 USD 0.9889 0.9672

1 EUR 1.0895 1.0751

1 GBP 1.3397 1.4772

2.5 Cash and balances with central banks

Cash and balances with central banks consist of cash in hand, postal 

cheque balances, giro and sight deposits at the Swiss National Bank 

and foreign central banks, as well as clearing credit balances at rec-

ognised central savings and clearing banks, claims from money mar-

ket instruments with an original maturity period of less than three 

months as well as loans due from banks (due daily).

2.6 Balances due from banks and from customers

Balances due from banks and from customers are initially recorded at 

actual cost, corresponding to the fair value of the specific loan at the 

time it was granted. Subsequent valuation reflects the amortised cost 

under application of the effective interest rate method. 

Interest on balances due from banks and from customers is recog-

nised on an accrual basis and is reported according to the effective in-

terest method, included under the item interest income. 

Negative interest on assets and liabilities is accrued in a period-com-

pliant manner and reported in the income statement as interest paid 

or interest received.

Basically, the LLB Group extends loans only on a collateralised basis, 

and only to counter parties having very high credit worthiness. 

Loans are regarded as being impaired if it is likely that the entire 

amount owed according to the loan agreement is not recoverable. Loan 

impairments are caused by country- or counterparty-specific criteria. 

Indications for the impairment of financial assets are: 

 ◆ the financial difficulty of the borrower;

 ◆ a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments;

 ◆ the increased probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 

or financial reorganisation;

 ◆ national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults 

on the assets of the Group.



122
Accounting principles

LLB Annual Report 2016

The amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between 

the carrying value of the claim and the estimated future cash flow, dis-

counted by the loan’s original effective interest rate. Allowances for 

credit risks is reported as a reduction of the carrying value of a claim on 

the balance sheet, whereas for an off-balance sheet item, such as   

a commitment, a provision for credit loss is reported under provisions. 

Impairments are recognised in the income statement.

2.7 Trading portfolio assets

Trading portfolio assets comprise equities, bonds and structured 

 financial products. Financial assets held for trading purposes are re-

corded at fair value. Short positions in securities are reported as trad-

ing portfolio liabilities at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and 

losses as well as interest and dividends are recorded in net trading 

income.

Fair value is based on current market prices in the case of an active 

market. In the absence of an active market, fair value is calculated on 

the basis of valuation models (see 2.9 “Financial investments”).

2.8 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are valued as positive or negative re-

placement values corresponding to fair value and are reported in the 

balance sheet. Fair value is calculated on the basis of exchange quota-

tions; in the absence of these, valuation models are employed. Deriv-

ative financial instruments are held within the LLB Group for hedging 

and trading purposes. If the derivative financial instruments held for 

hedging purposes do not fulfil the strict IFRS hedge accounting crite-

ria, changes in fair value are recognised, as with derivative financial 

instruments for trading purposes, in net trading income. Within the 

LLB Group, income effects of hedging transactions according to hedge 

accounting guidelines arise only with the ineffective component, the 

effects of the effective component neutralise each other.

Hedge accounting
Within the scope of risk management, derivative financial instru-

ments are employed mainly to manage interest rate and foreign cur-

rency risks. If these transactions fulfil the IFRS-specific hedge account-

ing criteria, and if these were employed as hedging instruments from 

a risk management perspective, they can be shown according to 

hedge accounting guidelines. If these transactions do not fulfil the 

IFRS-specific hedge accounting criteria, they are not presented accord-

ing to hedge accounting guidelines, even if from an economic point of 

view they represent hedging transactions and are consistent with the 

risk management principles of the LLB Group.

The LLB Group employs fair value hedge accounting for interest rate 

instruments. In this case, the interest rate risks of the underlying 

transaction (e.g. a fixed-rate mortgage) are hedged by means of  

hedging instruments (e.g. an interest rate swap). Fair value hedge 

accounting is applied at the portfolio level, whereby one hedging in-

strument is used to secure one or more underlying transactions. The 

effect on income of the fair value change in the hedging instrument is 

recognised in the income statement in the same position as the cor-

responding effect on income of the fair value changes in the hedged 

underlying transactions. 

In the case of the hedging of interest rate risks at the portfolio level, 

the fair value change in the hedged item is recognised in the same 

balance sheet position as the underlying item. As soon as a financial 

instrument is classified as a hedging instrument, and the hedging in-

strument fulfils the IFRS-specific hedge accounting criteria, the rela-

tionship between the hedging instrument and the hedged underlying 

transaction or the portfolio of underlying transactions is formally 

documented. This documentation contains the risk management 

goals and strategies for the underlying hedged relationship, as well as 

methods to assess the effectiveness, i.e. the effectiveness of the hedg-

ing relationship. The effectiveness of a hedging transaction is under-

stood to be the extent to which changes in the fair value of the under-

lying transaction, which are attributable to a hedged risk, can be 

compensated for by changes in the fair value of the hedging transac-

tion. An assessment is made, both when the hedging relationship is 

first applied and during its term, of whether it can regarded as “highly 

effective”. A hedge is regarded as being highly effective if: a) it is as-

sessed as being highly effective both when the hedge is initially recog-

nised and during the entire term of the transaction, and b) the actual 

results of the hedging transaction lie within a range of 80 to 125 per-

cent. The part outside the range of 80 to 125 percent is classed as being 

ineffective. 

If fair value hedge accounting is employed for reasons other than 

the derecognition of the hedged transaction, the amount, which is 

reported in the same balance sheet position as the underlying trans-

action, is amortised over the residual term of the underlying transac-

tion in the income statement.
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2.9 Financial investments

According to IFRS, financial investments can be divided into various 

categories. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 

individual financial investments were made. The management of the 

LLB Group determines the classification upon initial recognition. In the 

2016 business year and in the 2015 business year, financial investments 

were classified in the category “Financial investments at fair value 

through profit and loss”, as well as the category “Available-for-sale fi-

nancial assets”. All value adjustments with the category “Financial 

investments at fair value through profit and loss” are recognised in the 

income statement. All value adjustments with the category “Avail able-

for-sale financial assets” are reported in other comprehensive 

income.

This designation of the financial investments is in line with LLB’s in-

vestment strategy. The securities are managed on a fair value basis and 

their performance is evaluated accordingly. The members of the Group 

Executive Management receive the corresponding information.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. 

Non-realised gains and losses are reflected in the income statement 

at fair value under income from financial instruments. The fair value 

of listed shares is based on current market prices. If an active market 

is not available for financial assets, or if the assets are not listed, the 

fair value is determined by way of suitable valuation models. These 

encompass references to recent transactions between independent 

business partners, the application of the current market prices of oth-

er assets which are essentially similar to the assets being valued, 

 discounted cash flows and external pricing models, which take into 

account the special circumstances of the issuer. See also note 34. 

Interest and dividend income from financial investments is recorded 

at fair value as income from financial instruments. Interest income is 

recognised on an accrual basis. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets which are available for sale are recognised at fair value. 

Value changes, such as unrealised gains or losses, are reported in other 

comprehensive income. The fair value of these financial assets is meas-

ured on the basis of listed shares. If no active market exists or the assets 

are not listed on an exchange, the fair value is determined, similar to 

financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, by means of suit-

able valuation models. See also note 34. 

Interest and dividend earnings are recognised in the income state-

ment. Interest is reported on an accrual basis.

2.10 Property, investment property and other equipment

Property is reported in the balance sheet at acquisition cost less any 

depreciation necessary for operational reasons. Bank buildings are 

buildings held by the LLB Group for use in the delivery of services or for 

administration purposes, whereas investment property is held to earn 

rentals and / or for capital appreciation. If a property is partially used 

as investment property, the classification is based on whether or not 

the two portions can be sold separately. Investment property is peri-

odically valued by external experts. Changes in fair value are recog-

nised in the income statement as other income in the current period. 

If the portions of the property can be sold separately, each portion is 

booked separately. If the portions cannot be sold separately, the whole 

property is classified as a bank building unless the portion used by the 

bank is minor.

Equipment includes fixtures, furnishings, machinery and IT equip-

ment. These items are entered in the financial accounts and depreci-

ated over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Depreciation is conducted on a straight-line basis over the estimat-

ed useful life as follows:

Property 33 years

Investment property no depreciation

Undeveloped land no depreciation

Building supplementary costs 10 years

Fixtures, furnishings, machinery 5 years

IT equipment 3 years

Small value purchases are charged directly to general and administra-

tive expense. In general, maintenance and renovation expenditures 

are booked to general and administrative expense. If the related cost 

is substantial and results in a significant increase in value, such 

expend itures are capitalised and depreciated over their useful life. 

Profits from the sale of fixed assets are reported as other income. Loss-

es result in additional write-downs on fixed assets. 

Property and equipment is regularly reviewed for impairment, but 

always when, on account of occurrences or changed circumstances, an 

overvaluation of the carrying value appears to be possible. If, as a result 

of the review, a reduction in value or modified useful life is determined, 

the residual carrying value is depreciated over the adjusted useful life, 

or an unplanned write-down is made.
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2.11 Non-current assets held for sale

Long-term assets (or a disposal group) are classified as held for sale, 

if their carrying amount will be recovered primarily through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the 

case, the asset (or the disposal group) must be available for immedi-

ate sale in its present condition subject only to the terms that are 

usual and customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and 

such a sale must be highly probable. Long-term assets held for sale 

and disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell, unless the items shown in the dis-

posal group are not classified in the valuation rules of IFRS 5 

“Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations”. 

2.12 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill is defined as the difference between the purchase price paid 

for and the determined fair value at date of acquisition of identified 

net assets in a company purchased by the LLB Group. Other intangible 

assets contain separately, identifiable intangible values resulting from 

acquisitions and certain purchased brands / trademarks and similar 

items. Goodwill and other intangible assets are recognised on the 

 balance sheet at cost determined on the date of acquisition, and are 

amortised using the straight-line method over the useful life of ten to 

fifteen years. On each balance sheet date, goodwill and other intan-

gible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in 

future benefits. If such indications exist, an analysis is performed to 

assess whether the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible as-

sets is fully recoverable. An amortisation is made if the carrying 

amount exceeds the recoverable amount. For impairment testing 

purposes, goodwill is distributed into cash generating units. A cash 

generating unit is the smallest group of assets that independently 

generates cash flow and whose cash flow is largely independent of the 

cash flows generated by other assets. Cash flows generated from 

 independent groups of assets are largely determined on the basis of 

how management steers and manages business activity. The manage-

ment of the LLB Group manages and steers business activity in divi-

sions so that the divisions and segments are designated as the cash 

generating units of the Group. 

Software development costs are capitalised when they meet certain 

criteria relating to identifiability, it is possible that economic benefits 

will flow to the company, and the cost can be measured reliably. Inter-

nally developed software meeting these criteria and purchased soft-

ware are capitalised and subsequently amortised over three to ten 

years. See also note 19. 

2.13 Current and deferred taxes

Current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax law applicable 

in the individual country and recorded as expense for the accounting 

period in which the related income was earned. The relevant amounts 

are recorded on the balance sheet as provisions for taxes. The tax im-

pact from time differentials due to different valuations arising from 

the values of assets and liabilities reported according to IFRS shown 

on the Group balance sheet and their taxable value are recorded on 

the balance sheet as accrued tax assets or, as the case may be, deferred 

tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities attribut-

able to time differentials or accountable loss carry forwards are capi-

talised if there is a probability that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available to offset such differentials of loss carry forwards. Accrued / 

 deferred tax assets / liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are 

likely to be applicable for the accounting period in which the tax assets 

are realised or the tax liabilities paid. 

Current and deferred taxes are credited or charged directly to equity 

or other comprehensive income if the related tax pertains to items 

that have been credited or charged directly to equity or other compre-

hensive income in the same or some other accounting period.

2.14 Debt issued 

Medium-term notes are recognised at fair value, which usually corres-

ponds to the issuance value, and at amortised cost. Debt instruments, 

which contain an embedded option for conversion of the debt into 

shares of LLB AG, are separated into a liability and an equity compo-

nent. The difference between the proceeds of the issue price and the 

fair value of the instrument on the issue date is booked directly to  

equity. The fair value of the liability component on the issue date is 

determined on the basis of the market interest rate for comparable 

instruments without conversion rights. Thereafter, it is recognised at 

ongoing cost according to the effective interest method. Differences 

between the proceeds and the repayment amount are reported in  

profit and loss over the term of the debt instrument concerned. The LLB 

Group does not report changes in the value of the equity component 

in the following reporting periods.
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2.15 Employee benefits 

Retirement benefit plans 
LLB Group has pension plans for its employees in Liechtenstein and 

abroad, which are defined according to IFRS as defined benefit plans. 

In addition there are long-term service awards which qualify as other 

long-term employee benefits. 

For benefit-oriented plans, the period costs are determined by opin-

ions obtained from external experts. The benefits provided by these 

plans are generally based on the number of insured years, the em-

ployee’s age, covered salary and partly on the amount of capital saved. 

For benefit-oriented plans with segregated assets, the relevant funded 

status is recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability (in ac-

cordance with the Projected Unit Credit Method). An asset position is 

calculated according to the criteria of IFRIC 14.

For plans without segregated assets, the relevant funded status 

recorded on the balance sheet corresponds to the cash value of the 

claims.

The cash value of the claims is calculated using the “Projected Unit 

Credit Method”, whereby the number of insured years accrued up to 

the valuation date are taken into consideration.

The effects of retroactive improvements to benefits resulting from 

plan changes and plan curtailments are recognised directly in the in-

come statement.

Variable salary component and share-based remuneration 
Regulations exist governing the payment of variable salary compo-

nents. The valuation procedure with the variable salary component is 

based on the degree of individual target achievement. Executives re-

ceive a portion of their profit-related bonus in the form of LLB bearer 

shares. However, no exercising conditions are attached to this 

procedure.

The LLB Group enters a provision as a liability in those cases where 

a contractual obligation exists or a de facto obligation arises as a result 

of past business practice. The expense is recognised under personnel 

expenses. Obligations to be paid in cash are entered under other lia-

bilities. The portion to be compensated with LLB bearer shares is en-

tered in equity. The number of shares for the share-based compensa-

tion corresponds to the average share price of the last quarter of the 

year under report.

2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

The business environment in which the LLB Group currently operates 

exposes it to significant legal and regulatory risks. As a result, LLB is 

involved in various legal proceedings, whose financial influence on the 

LLB Group – depending on the stage of the proceeding – is difficult to 

assess and are subject to many uncertainties. The LLB Group makes 

provisions for ongoing and threatened proceedings when, in the opin-

ion of management after taking legal advice, it is probable that a lia-

bility exists, and the amount of the liability or payment can be reason-

ably estimated. 

For certain proceedings in cases where the facts are not specifically 

known, the claimant has not quantified the alleged damages, the pro-

ceedings are at an early stage, or where sound and substantial infor-

mation is lacking, the LLB Group is not in a position to estimate reliably 

the approximate financial implication. In many legal cases, a combi-

nation of these facts makes it impossible to estimate the financial 

effect of contingent liabilities for the LLB Group. If, indeed, such as-

sumptions or estimates were made or disclosed, it could seriously 

prejudice the position of the LLB Group in such legal cases. 

In cases where only a possible liability is involved, but the manage-

ment does not believe that there is a probability of an outflow of re-

sources, this leads to a contingent liability for the LLB Group, but not 

to the formation of a provision. The amount of the contingent liabili-

ties results based on best estimate.

2.17 Allowances for credit risks 

Allowances for credit risks are made at LLB, provided there are objec-

tive criteria indicating that the entire amount owed according to the 

loan agreement may not be recoverable. At LLB, a credit amount is 

understood to be a loan, a claim or a fixed commitment such as a doc-

umentary credit, a guarantee, or a similar credit product. Objective 

criteria are serious financial difficulties experienced by the borrower, 

default or delinquency in interest or capital payments, or the proba-

bility that the borrower cannot repay the loan. Allowances for credit 

risks are reported as a reduction of the carrying value of a claim on the 

balance sheet. Allowances are reported in the income statement un-

der credit loss (expense) / recovery. For further information, see “Risk 

management”, chapter “3. Credit risk”.
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2.18 Treasury shares 

Shares of Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG held by the LLB Group are 

valued at cost of acquisition and reported as a reduction in equity. The 

difference between the sale proceeds and the corresponding cost of 

acquisition of treasury shares is recorded under capital reserves.

2.19 Securities lending and borrowing transactions

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are generally entered 

into on a collateralised basis, with securities mainly being advanced 

or received as collateral.

Treasury shares lent out remain in the trading portfolio or in the 

 financial investments portfolio as long as the risks and rewards of own-

ership of the shares are not transferred. Securities that are borrowed 

are not recognised in the balance sheet as long as the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the securities remain with the lender. 

Fees and interest received or paid are recognised on an accrual basis 

and recorded under net fee and commission income.

3 Events after the balance sheet date

There have been no material events after the balance sheet date, 

which would require disclosure or an adjustment of the consolidated 

financial statement for 2016.
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Segment reporting
The business activities of the LLB Group are divided into the follow-

ing three business areas. These form the basis for the segment 

reporting.

 ◆ Retail & Corporate Banking segment encompasses the universal 

banking business in the home markets of Liechtenstein and 

Switzerland.

 ◆ Private Banking segment encompasses all the private banking 

 activities of the LLB Group.

 ◆ Institutional Clients segment encompasses the financial interme-

di ary and investment fund business as well as the asset manage-

ment and wealth structuring activities of the LLB Group

The segments receive comprehensive support from the Corporate 

Center. It comprises the following functions: finance, credit and risk 

management, legal and compliance matters, trading and securities 

administration, payment services, human resources management, 

communication and branding, corporate development, as well as 

logistics and IT services.

Following the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments 

are reported in accordance with the internal reporting provided to the 

Group Executive Management (chief operating decision maker), which 

is responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and 

assessing their performance. All operating segments used by the  

LLB Group meet the definition of a reportable segment under IFRS 8.

In accordance with the principle of responsibility and based on the 

organisational structure, income and expenditure are allocated to the 

business divisions. Indirect costs, resulting from services provided in-

ternally, are accounted for according to the principle of causation and 

are recorded as a revenue increase for the service provider and as a cost 

increase for the service beneficiary. The remaining income and expend-

iture for overriding services which cannot be assigned to the segments 

are shown under Corporate Center. Furthermore, consolidation adjust-

ments are reported under Corporate Center.

Transactions between the segments are executed at standard mar-

ket conditions.
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Business year 2015

in CHF thousands

Retail &  
Corporate 
Banking

Private  
Banking

Institutional 
Clients

Corporate  
Center

Total 
Group

Net interest income 89'246 16'590 8'147 18'471 132'454

Credit loss (expense) / recovery – 57 0 – 5'979 0 – 6'036

Net interest income after credit loss expense 89'189 16'590 2'168 18'471 126'418

Net fee and commission income 28'124 66'766 56'907 – 2'173 149'625

Net trading income 11'157 10'277 11'896 – 246 33'084

Net income from financial investments at fair value 0 0 0 – 736 – 736

Share of net income of joint venture 0 0 0 – 13 – 13

Other income 543 2 1'584 2'656 4'785

Total operating income * 129'013 93'635 72'555 17'959 313'163

Personnel expenses – 31'741 – 24'209 – 15'575 – 52'257 – 123'782

General and administrative expenses – 2'607 – 2'776 – 2'985 – 55'286 – 63'653

Depreciation and amortisation – 321 0 0 – 33'336 – 33'657

Services (from) / to segments – 51'790 – 25'592 – 10'133 87'515 0

Total operating expenses – 86'459 – 52'577 – 28'693 – 53'364 – 221'093

Operating profit before tax 42'554 41'058 43'862 – 35'405 92'070

Tax expenses – 5'770

Net profit 86'301

*  There were no substantial earnings generated between the segments so that income between the segments is not material.

Business year 2016

in CHF thousands

Retail &  
Corporate 
Banking

Private  
Banking

Institutional 
Clients

Corporate  
Center

Total 
Group

Net interest income 84'077 15'695 10'300 27'994 138'067

Credit loss (expense) / recovery – 3'014 750 1'275 0 – 989

Net interest income after credit loss expense 81'063 16'445 11'575 27'994 137'078

Net fee and commission income 29'467 65'390 55'795 – 4'914 145'739

Net trading income 10'532 8'955 10'538 25'917 55'943

Net income from financial investments at fair value 0 0 0 21'836 21'836

Share of net income of joint venture 0 0 0 0 0

Other income 1'813 2 3 9'252 11'070

Total operating income * 122'875 90'792 77'911 80'085 371'665

Personnel expenses – 31'679 – 30'631 – 17'041 – 61'484 – 140'835

General and administrative expenses – 2'364 – 3'576 – 2'538 – 81'380 – 89'859

Depreciation and amortisation – 68 0 0 – 27'480 – 27'548

Services (from) / to segments – 46'989 – 24'384 – 12'167 83'540 0

Total operating expenses – 81'100 – 58'591 – 31'746 – 86'804 – 258'242

Operating profit before tax 41'775 32'201 46'165 – 6'719 113'423

Tax expenses – 9'554

Net profit 103'869

*  There were no substantial earnings generated between the segments so that income between the segments is not material.

 

There were no revenues deriving from transactions with a single  

external customer that amounted to ten percent or more of the 

Group’s revenues.
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Business year 2015

Liechtenstein Switzerland Other countries Total Group

in % in % in % in %

Operating income (in CHF thousands) 152'219 48.6 151'379 48.3 9'565 3.1 313'163 100.0 

Total assets (in CHF millions) 13'188 67.0 6'371 32.4 110 0.6 19'670 100.0 

Business year 2016

Liechtenstein Switzerland Other countries Total Group

in % in % in % in %

Operating income (in CHF thousands) 249'717 67.2 111'845 30.1 10'103 2.7 371'665 100.0 

Total assets (in CHF millions) 13'193 66.1 6'561 32.9 204 1.0 19'958 100.0 

Segment reporting by geographic location

The geographic analysis of operating income and assets is based on 

the location of the company,in which the transactions and assets are 

recorded. The LLB Group does not manage the segments or the indi-

vidual companies according to geographic distribution. The geograph-

ic analysis is prepared and disclosed in order to comply with IFRS.
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1 Net interest income

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Interest income from banks 5'436 6'792 – 20.0

Interest income from loans 167'774 172'164 – 2.6

Loan commissions with the character of interest 3'762 3'845 – 2.2

Total interest income 176'971 182'801 – 3.2

Interest expenses on amounts due to banks – 15'223 – 16'898 – 9.9

Interest expenses on amounts due to customers – 23'681 – 33'449 – 29.2

Total interest expenses – 38'905 – 50'347 – 22.7

Total net interest income * 138'067 132'454 4.2

*  In the 2016 business year CHF thousands 12'415 (previous year: CHF thousands 6'611) in negative interest were paid and CHF thousands 3'715 (previous year: CHF thousands 305)  
in negative interest were received.

2 Net fee and commission income

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Brokerage fees 48'418 51'532 – 6.0

Custody fees 30'118 32'187 – 6.4

Advisory and management fees 41'601 39'780 4.6

Investment fund fees 23'380 20'651 13.2

Credit-related fees and commissions 625 808 – 22.7

Commission income from other services 27'789 29'938 – 7.2

Total fee and commission income 171'930 174'897 – 1.7

Brokerage fees paid – 9'687 – 8'229 17.7

Other fee and commission expenses – 16'504 – 17'043 – 3.2

Total fee and commission expenses – 26'191 – 25'272 3.6

Total net fee and commission income 145'739 149'625 – 2.6

Notes to the consolidated  
income statement
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3 Net trading income

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Securities 66 238 – 72.2

Foreign exchange trading 39'275 41'832 – 6.1

Foreign note trading 1'754 222 688.9

Precious metals trading 782 898 – 12.9

Interest rate instruments * 14'066 – 10'106

Total net trading income 55'943 33'084 69.1

*  The LLB Group uses interest rate swaps for trading and hedging purposes. If the interest rate swaps do not fulfil the approval criteria according to IAS 39 in order to be booked as  
hedging transactions, they are treated as interest rate swaps for trading purposes. 

4 Net income from financial investments at fair value

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Interest income 14'088 16'826 – 16.3

Dividend income 819 1'216 – 32.6

Price gains * 5'406 – 18'721

Total net income from financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 20'313 – 678

Realised gain from financial investments available for sale 1'522 – 59

Total net income from financial investments available for sale 1'522 – 59

Total net income from financial investments at fair value  21'836 – 736

*  The realised price gains for 2016 amounted to minus CHF thousands 4'419 (previous year: minus CHF thousands 6'909). 

5 Other income

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Net income from properties 1'327 1'688 – 21.4

Non-period-related and non-operating income 649 131 394.6

Realised profits from sales of participations * 0 1'584 – 100.0

Realised profits from sales of tangible assets ** 7'851 56

Income from various services 1'244 1'326 – 6.2

Total other income 11'070 4'785 131.4

*  Contains in 2015 income from the deconsolidation of the swisspartners Group.
**  Contains income from sales of properties.
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6 Personnel expenses

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Salaries * – 116'849 – 102'419 14.1

Pension and other post-employment benefit plans ** – 7'436 – 7'662 – 3.0

Other social contributions – 11'238 – 10'034 12.0

Training costs – 1'570 – 1'195 31.3

Other personnel expenses – 3'743 – 2'472 51.4

Total personnel expenses – 140'835 – 123'782 13.8

*  Contains the variable compensation of the management which is disclosed in detail in the compensation report as well as aggregated in note 41.
**  See note 40 for details.

The average headcount of LLB Group employees, adjusted to consider 

part-time staff, amounted to 844 in 2016 and 816 in 2015.

7 General and administrative expenses

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Occupancy – 10'516 – 6'985 50.5

Expenses for IT, machinery and other equipment – 18'380 – 17'320 6.1

Information and communication expenses – 12'876 – 12'287 4.8

Marketing and public relations – 8'048 – 7'936 1.4

Consulting and audit fees – 5'496 – 6'816 – 19.4

Capital tax and other tax – 505 – 497 1.4

Provisions for legal and litigation risks * – 24'399 785

Material costs – 869 – 845 2.7

Legal and representation costs – 837 – 612 36.8

Litigation costs – 106 – 1'883 – 94.4

Supervision fees – 1'116 – 924 20.7

Other general and administrative expenses – 6'711 – 8'333 – 19.5

Total general and administrative expenses – 89'859 – 63'653 41.2

*  See note 26 for details.

8 Depreciation and amortisation

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Depreciation of property – 5'586 – 6'613 – 15.5

Depreciation of equipment – 6'902 – 9'328 – 26.0

Amortisation of intangible assets * – 15'060 – 17'717 – 15.0

Total depreciation and amortisation – 27'548 – 33'657 – 18.2

*  Contains in 2015 a one-time impairment on intangible assets of CHF thousands 3'132.
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9 Tax expenses

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Current taxes – 11'024 – 4'958 122.3

Deferred taxes * 1'470 – 812

Total tax expenses – 9'554 – 5'770 65.6

*  For further details, see note 25.

The tax on pre-tax Group profit deviates from the theoretical amount, 

calculated on the basis of the weighted average Group tax rate on 

profit before tax, as follows:

The actual net payments made by the LLB Group for domestic and 

 foreign corporate profit taxes amounted to CHF 7.6 million for the full 

year 2016 and to CHF 8.7 million for the full year 2015.

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Operating profit before tax 113'423 92'070 23.2

Assumed average income tax rate of 11.5 % (2015: 11.5 %) – 13'044 – 10'588 23.2

Increase / (Decrease) resulting from

Use of tax losses carried forward 0 – 134 – 100.0

Use of non-capitalised losses carried forward 405 228 77.6

Effect of taxes calculated at tax rates other than the assumed tax rate 1'891 2'018 – 6.3

Tax charges / (savings) from previous years 953 0

Other differences 241 2'706 – 91.1

Total tax expenses – 9'554 – 5'770 65.6

The assumed average tax burden is based on the average applicable 

tax rates for the individual companies or the individual tax jurisdic-

tions, weighted according to the total contributions of the individual 

companies.

10 Earnings per share

2016 2015 + / – %

Net profit attributable to the shareholders of LLB (in CHF thousands) 98'181 82'728 18.7

Weighted average shares outstanding 28'836'386 28'821'798 0.1

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 3.40 2.87 18.6

Net profit for diluted earnings per share attributable to the shareholders of LLB (in CHF thousands) 98'181 82'728 18.7

Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share 28'836'386 28'821'798 0.1

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 3.40 2.87 18.6
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
11 Cash and balances with central banks

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Cash 64'258 60'061 7.0

Demand deposits with central banks 3'386'467 2'499'911 35.5

Total cash and balances with central banks 3'450'726 2'559'972 34.8

12 Due from banks

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

On demand 506'401 483'307 4.8

At maturity or callable 2'608'459 3'770'767 – 30.8

Total due from banks 3'114'861 4'254'074 – 26.8

13 Loans 

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Mortgages 9'986'137 9'580'127 4.2

Public institutions 82'441 82'975 – 0.6

Fixed advances and loans 1'314'918 1'210'132 8.7

Other loans and advances 262'378 230'204 14.0

Allowances for credit loss – 106'999 – 111'948 – 4.4

Total due from customers 11'538'876 10'991'490 5.0

By type of collateral

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Secured by properties 9'967'873 9'558'415 4.3

Other collateral 1'076'498 916'506 17.5

Unsecured 494'505 516'569 – 4.3

Total 11'538'876 10'991'490 5.0
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Allowances and provisions for credit losses

in CHF thousands
Mortgage 

loans Other loans Total

As at 1 January 2015 31'347 78'341 109'688

Write-offs – 6'138 – 1'028 – 7'166

Recoveries and doubtful interest income 2'594 725 3'319

Increase in credit loss allowances and provisions recognised in the income statement 6'616 3'675 10'291

Decrease in credit loss allowances and provisions recognised in the income statement – 1'586 – 2'669 – 4'255

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments – 1'696 1'767 71

As at 31 December 2015 31'137 80'811 111'948

As at 1 January 2016 31'137 80'811 111'948

Write-offs – 383 – 7'138 – 7'521

Recoveries and doubtful interest income 756 722 1'478

Increase in credit loss allowances and provisions recognised in the income statement 10'322 9'198 19'520

Decrease in credit loss allowances and provisions recognised in the income statement – 10'476 – 8'055 – 18'531

Foreign currency translation and other adjustments – 1'507 1'612 105

As at 31 December 2016 29'849 77'150 106'999

14 Trading portfolio assets

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Debt instruments

listed 3'610 2'193 64.6

unlisted 162 247 – 34.3

Total debt instruments 3'772 2'440 54.6

Equity instruments

listed 3 4 – 28.1

unlisted 5 5 14.0

Total equity instruments 9 9 – 6.1

Total trading portfolio assets 3'781 2'450 54.4

15 Derivative financial instruments

Within the scope of balance sheet management, interest rate swaps 

are concluded to hedge interest rate fluctuation risks. These instru-

ments are fair value hedges. Furthermore, derivative financial instru-

ments are employed primarily within the context of transactions for 

clients. Both standardised and OTC derivatives are traded for the 

 account of clients. Swiss banks having a high credit worthiness act as 

counterparties. The bank does not assume a market-maker function. 

Derivative financial instruments are used to a limited extent in the 

management of the bank’s own securities portfolio. 

The LLB Group employs fair value hedge accounting for interest rate 

risks on fixed-rate instruments. For this purpose it uses interest rate 

swaps. In the 2016 business year, these had a nominal value of  

CHF 240 million (31.12.2015: CHF 145 million), as well as a positive re-

placement value of CHF 1.3 million (31.12.2015: CHF 0.4 million) and  

a negative replacement value of CHF 2.2 million (31.12.2015: CHF 0.5 

million). At the same time, the loss on hedging instruments totalled 

CHF 0.5 million (2015: profit of CHF 0.7 million) and the profits on the 

hedged underlying transactions amounted to CHF 0.6 million (2015: 

loss of CHF 0.6 million).



136
Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

LLB Annual Report 2016

Term to maturity  
within 3 months 

Term to maturity  
3 to 12 months

Term to maturity  
1 to 5 years

Term to maturity  
after 5 years Total

in CHF thousands PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV

Total  
contract  

volume

31. 12. 2015

Derivative financial instruments in the trading portfolio

Interest rate contracts

Swaps 174 0 1'046 2'715 0 43'572 121 47'814 1'341 94'100 1'299'482

Forward contracts 124 315 26 50 0 0 0 0 150 365 80'941

Foreign exchange contracts

Forward contracts 46'678 43'915 8'297 7'534 339 334 0 0 55'314 51'783 7'918'742

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 1'357 1'357 2'425 2'425 0 0 0 0 3'782 3'782 68'830

Precious metals contracts

Forward contracts 0 0 17 15 0 0 0 0 17 15 972

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Equity / Index contracts

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 1'017 1'017 0 0 0 0 0 0 1'017 1'017 136'240

Equities

Forward contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total derivative financial 
instruments in the trading 
portfolio 49'350 46'604 11'811 12'739 339 43'906 121 47'814 61'621 151'062 9'505'207

Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes

Interest rate contracts

Swaps (fair value hedge) 0 0 0 0 0 115 392 415 392 531 145'000

Total derivative financial 
instruments for hedging 
purposes 0 0 0 0 0 115 392 415 392 531 145'000

Derivative financial  
instruments 49'350 46'604 11'811 12'739 339 44'021 513 48'229 62'013 151'593 9'650'207

PRV: Positive replacement value; NRV: Negative replacement value   
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Term to maturity  
within 3 months 

Term to maturity  
3 to 12 months

Term to maturity  
1 to 5 years

Term to maturity  
after 5 years Total

in CHF thousands PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV PRV NRV

Total  
contract  

volume

31. 12. 2016

Derivative financial instruments in the trading portfolio

Interest rate contracts

Swaps 0 0 0 3'662 0 38'286 0 36'180 0 78'128 1'121'000

Forward contracts 21 364 8 696 0 0 0 0 30 1'060 72'168

Foreign exchange contracts

Forward contracts 60'524 60'500 15'834 15'153 325 316 0 0 76'683 75'969 8'566'840

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 402 402 2'613 2'613 0 0 0 0 3'015 3'015 76'204

Precious metals contracts

Forward contracts 226 251 0 0 0 0 0 0 226 251 18'020

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 0 0 6 6 0 0 0 0 6 6 239

Equity / index contracts

Over the counter (OTC)  
contracts 1'316 1'316 0 0 54 54 0 0 1'369 1'369 186'326

Equities

Forward contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13'652

Total derivative financial 
instruments in the trading 
portfolio 62'488 62'832 18'462 22'130 379 38'656 0 36'180 81'329 159'798 10'054'450

Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes

Interest rate contracts

Swaps (fair value hedge) 0 0 0 119 0 68 1'279 1'990 1'279 2'178 240'000

Total derivative financial 
instruments for hedging 
purposes 0 0 0 119 0 68 1'279 1'990 1'279 2'178 240'000

Derivative financial  
instruments 62'488 62'832 18'462 22'249 379 38'724 1'279 38'171 82'607 161'976 10'294'450

PRV: Positive replacement value; NRV: Negative replacement value   
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16 Financial investments at fair value

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss

Debt instruments

listed 854'312 776'407 10.0

unlisted 0 0

Total debt instruments 854'312 776'407 10.0

Equity instruments

listed 4 1 219.3

unlisted 293'149 366'028 – 19.9

Total equity instruments 293'153 366'029 – 19.9

Total financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 1'147'465 1'142'436 0.4

Financial investments available for sale

Debt instruments

listed 198'745 236'237 – 15.9

unlisted 0 59'935 – 100.0

Total debt instruments 198'745 296'172 – 32.9

Equity instruments

listed 0 0

unlisted 92'408 0

Total equity instruments 92'408 0

Total financial investments available for sale 291'153 296'172 – 1.7

Total financial investments at fair value 1'438'618 1'438'608 0.0

17 Investment in joint venture

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

As at 1 January 47 61 – 22.0

Additions / (Disposals) 0 0

Share in profit / (loss) 0 – 13 – 97.3

As at 31 December 47 47 – 0.8

Details of investment in joint venture
Ownership interest in %

Name Registered office Business activity 2016 2015

Data Info Services AG Vaduz Service company 50.0 50.0

in CHF thousands 2016 2015

Assets 868 940

Liabilities 773 819

Operating profit 740 764

Net profit – 1 – 27
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18 Property and other equipment as well as investment property

in CHF thousands Property
Other  

equipment

Total  
property  

and other  
equipment

Investment  
property

As at 1 January 2015

Cost 222'879 98'573 321'452 21'346

Accumulated depreciation – 115'818 – 74'084 – 189'902 – 4'961

Net book amount 107'061 24'489 131'550 16'385

Year ended December 2015

Opening net book amount 107'061 24'489 131'550 16'385

Additions 401 8'128 8'529 1'240

Disposals – 116 – 97 – 213 – 1'385

Amortisation – 6'613 – 9'328 – 15'941 0

Disposals / (Additions) from accumulated depreciation 44 9'684 9'728 0

Change from disposals to the scope of consolidation 0 – 10'332 – 10'332 0

Closing net book amount 100'778 22'544 123'321 16'240

As at 31 December 2015

Cost 223'164 96'272 319'436 21'201

Accumulated depreciation – 122'386 – 73'728 – 196'115 – 4'961

Net book amount 100'778 22'544 123'321 16'240

Year ended December 2016

Opening net book amount 100'778 22'544 123'321 16'240

Additions 13'490 19'084 32'573 0

Disposals – 16'967 – 40'534 – 57'501 – 2'833

Depreciation – 5'586 – 6'902 – 12'488 0

Disposals / (Additions) from accumulated depreciation 8'068 30'996 39'063 2'611

Closing net book amount 99'781 25'187 124'969 16'018

As at 31 December 2016

Cost 219'686 74'822 294'508 18'368

Accumulated depreciation – 119'905 – 49'635 – 169'540 – 2'350

Net book amount 99'781 25'187 124'969 16'018

Investments in joint ventures are recognised in the balance sheet 

according to the equity method and are not substantial for the    

LLB Group. Losses are fully recognised in the balance sheet.
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Additional information

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Fire insurance value of property 249'338 251'397 – 0.8

Fire insurance value of other equipment 66'211 68'890 – 3.9

Fire insurance value of investment property 1'935 1'190 62.6

Fair value of investment property 16'018 16'240 – 1.4

There are no financing leases for premises or equipment. The invest-

ment property is held solely for the purpose of capital appreciation.

Future net commitments for operating leases

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Due to 2017 3'101 3'505 – 11.5

Due 2018 to 2022 6'657 10'855 – 38.7

Due 2023 and thereafter 1'647 3'708 – 55.6

Total future net commitments for operating leases 11'405 18'068 – 36.9

Operating expenses for 2016 include CHF thousands 4’054 and for 2015 

CHF thousands 3’598 from operating leases. At year’s end, LLB Group was 

obligated under a number of non-cancellable operating leases for prem-

ises and equipment used mainly for banking purposes. The significant 

premises leases include renewal options and escalation clauses.

Future net receivables from operating leases 

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Due to 2017 1'451 1'598 – 9.2

Due 2018 to 2022 4'512 4'280 5.4

Due 2023 and thereafter 3'673 4'406 – 16.6

Total future net receivables from operating leases 9'636 10'284 – 6.3

Other income for 2016 includes CHF thousands 1’705 and for 2015   

CHF thousands 1’804 from operating leases.



141
Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

LLB Annual Report 2016

19 Goodwill and other intangible assets

in CHF thousands Goodwill

Other  
intangible  

assets Software Total

As at 1 January 2015

Cost 132'517 76'130 120'000 328'647

Accumulated amortisation and impairment – 76'897 – 35'376 – 62'650 – 174'923

Net book amount 55'620 40'754 57'350 153'724

Year ended December 2015

Opening net book amount 55'620 40'754 57'350 153'724

Additions 0 0 3'074 3'074

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Amortisation 0 – 3'718 – 13'999 – 17'717

Disposals / (Additions) from accumulated depreciation 76'897 6'252 13'197 96'346

Change from disposals to the scope of consolidation – 76'897 – 20'367 – 13'671 – 110'935

Closing net book amount 55'620 22'921 45'951 124'492

As at 31 December 2015

Cost 55'620 55'763 109'403 220'786

Accumulated amortisation 0 – 32'842 – 63'452 – 96'294

Net book amount 55'620 22'921 45'951 124'492

Year ended December 2016

Opening net book amount 55'620 22'921 45'951 124'492

Additions 0 0 8'999 8'999

Disposals 0 0 – 39'062 – 39'062

Amortisation 0 – 3'718 – 11'342 – 15'060

Disposals / (Additions) from accumulated amortisation 0 0 39'063 39'063

Closing net book amount 55'620 19'203 43'609 118'432

As at 31 December 2016

Cost 55'620 55'763 79'340 190'723

Accumulated amortisation 0 – 36'560 – 35'730 – 72'290

Net book amount 55'620 19'203 43'609 118'432

Goodwill 

The LLB Group carried goodwill for the following segment:

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Retail & Corporate Banking 55'620 55'620
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Goodwill impairment testing
Goodwill is tested twice a year for impairment – in the first quarter as 

a basis for the interim financial reporting at 30 June and in the third 

quarter as a basis for the annual financial reporting at 31 December. In 

order to determine a possible impairment, the recoverable amount of 

each cash generating unit which carries goodwill is compared with its 

balance sheet value. According to the calculations made, the recover-

able amount of a cash generating unit always corresponds to the value 

in use. The balance sheet value or carrying value comprises equity 

before goodwill and intangible assets, as well as goodwill and intan-

gible assets from the underlying purchase price allocation of this cash 

generating unit.

On the basis of the impairment testing carried out, management 

reached the conclusion that for the year ended on 31 December 2016, 

the total goodwill of CHF 55.6 million allocated to the cash generating 

unit Retail & Corporate Banking remains recoverable. No impairment 

needs to be recognised because the recoverable amount exceeds the 

balance sheet value.

Recoverable amount
For determining the value in use, which corresponds to the recoverable 

amount of the respective cash generating units, the LLB Group employs 

a discounted cash flow (DCF) valuation model. The DCF model used by 

the LLB Group takes into consideration the special characteristics of 

banking business and the financial services sector, as well as the regu-

latory environment. With the aid of the model, and on the basis of the 

financial planning approved by management, the cash value of esti-

mated free cash flow is calculated. If regulatory capital requirements 

exist for the cash generating unit, these capital requirements are de-

ducted from the estimated free cash flows for the respective period and 

are available to the cash generating unit for distribution. This amount 

then corresponds to the theoretical sum that could be paid out to the 

shareholders. For the assessment of the forecasted earnings, manage-

ment employs approved financial plans covering a period of five years. 

The results of all periods after the fifth year are extrapolated from the 

forecasted result or the free cash flow of the fifth year together with  

a long-term growth rate corresponding to the long-term inflation rate 

in Switzerland and Liechtenstein. Under certain circumstances, the 

growth rates may vary for the individual cash generating units because 

the probable developments and conditions in the respective markets 

are taken into account.

Assumptions
As far as possible, the parameters on which the valuation model is 

based are coordinated with external market information. In this con-

text, the value in use of a cash generating unit is most sensitive to 

changes in the forecasted earnings, changes to the discount rate and 

changes in the long-term growth rate. The discount rate is determined 

on the basis of the capital asset pricing model (CAPM), which contains 

a risk-free interest rate, a market risk premium, a small cap premium, 

as well as a factor for the systematic market risk, i.e. the beta factor. 

The long-term growth rates outside the five-year planning period 

(terminal value), on which the impairment tests for the annual re-

port per 31 December 2016 were based and which were used for 

 extrapolation purposes, as well as the discount rates for the individ-

ual cash generating units, were unchanged from the parameters 

used at 31 December 2015. The parameters used are shown in the 

table below. The discount rate is directly influenced by the fluctua-

tion of interest rates. On account of the unchanged, historically low 

interest rate levels on the market, the discount rate of the cash gen-

erating units has not changed in comparison with the previous year. 

In a longer-term comparison, the present interest rate environment 

is also reflected in substantially lower interest income as well as 

corres ponding lower annual earnings and free cash flows distribut-

able to shareholders. On account of the fact that the discount rate is 

linked to current interest rate levels, when the latter rise, basically 

the discount rate, and interest income, will also rise. The cash gen-

erating units are exposed to only a limited level of risk because they 

operate in a local market, and only in retail and private banking with 

a limited risk profile.

Sensitivities
During the periodic preparation and execution of impairment tests, 

all the parameters and assumptions, on which the testing of the in-

dividual cash generating units is based, are reviewed and – if neces-

sary – adjusted. A change in the risk-free interest rate has an influence 

on the discount rate, whereby a change in the economic situation, 

especially in the financial services industry, also has an impact on the 

expected or estimated results. In order to check these effects on the 

value in use of the individual cash generating units, the parameters 

and assumptions employed with the valuation model are subjected to 

a sensitivity analysis. For this purpose, the forecasted free cash flow 

attributable to shareholders is changed by 10 percent, the discount 

rate by 10 percent and the long-term growth rates by 10 percent. 

 According to the results of the impairment tests carried out, and based 

on the described assumptions, an amount of CHF 40.0 million in 

Growth rates Discount rates

in percent 2016 2015 2016 2015

Retail & Corporate Banking 1.0 1.0 6.0 6.0 
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excess of the balance sheet value is obtained for the Retail & Corporate 

Banking segment. A reduction of the free cash flow of 10 percent 

would lead to an impairment of CHF 9.5 million in the goodwill of the 

Retail & Corporate Banking segment and an increase in the discount 

rate by 10 percent would lead to an impairment of CHF 18.5 million.   

A reduction in the long-term growth rate of 10 percent would not lead 

to any impairment. The discount rate could be increased by 6.5 percent 

and the free cash flow could be reduced by 8.0 percent before the 

 recoverable amount would correspond to the book value. 

In view of the challenging situation in the financial services industry, 

which is expected to persist in the future, the management estimates 

that an impairment of the goodwill in the Retail & Corporate Banking 

segment in the coming business years is not improbable. However, 

thanks to the relative strength in comparison with competitors as well 

as the realised and planned cost-cutting and efficiency improvement 

measures, a positive development of the segment is expected over the 

medium to long-term.

If the estimated earnings and other assumptions in future business 

years deviate from the current outlook due to political or global risks 

in the banking industry – such as for example due to uncertainty in 

connection with the implementation of regulatory provisions and the 

introduction of certain legislation, or a decline in general economic 

performance – this could result in an impairment of the goodwill in 

the future. This would lead to a reduction in the income statement of 

the LLB Group and a decrease in the equity attributable to sharehold-

ers and net profit. Such an impairment would not, however, have an 

impact on cash flows or on the Tier 1 ratio because – in accordance 

with Liechtenstein equity capital ordinance – goodwill must be 

 deducted from capital.

Other intangible assets
Customer relationships and brand values are reported as assets under 

other intangible assets. These are amortised over a period of 15 years 

on a straight-line basis. Estimated aggregated amortisation on intan-

gible assets amounts to:

in CHF thousands

2017 3'718

2018 3'718

2019 3'718

2020 3'718

2021 3'718

2022 and thereafter 613

Total 19'203

20 Other assets

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Settlement account 2'388 2'664 – 10.4

VAT and other tax receivables 1'033 2'344 – 55.9

Precious metals holdings 12'346 22'812 – 45.9

Total other assets 15'767 27'820 – 43.3
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21  Assets pledged

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Carrying value Actual liability Carrying value Actual liability

Financial investments 40'091 0 33'979 0

Mortgage loans 999'269 788'200 1'000'306 770'000

Total assets pledged 1'039'360 788'200 1'034'285 770'000

The financial investments are pledged with national and central banks 

for Lombard limits, for stock exchange guarantees and to safeguard 

the business activity of foreign organisations pursuant to local legal 

provisions. The amounts due from banks and mortgage loans are 

pledged as collateral for loans and shares in bond issues of the Swiss 

Regional or Cantonal Banks’ Central Bond Institutions.

22 Due to banks

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

On demand 109'723 155'569 – 29.5

At maturity or callable 513'209 518'065 – 0.9

Total due to banks 622'932 673'634 – 7.5

23 Due to customers

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

On demand 10'246'998 10'731'951 – 4.5

At maturity or callable 1'286'388 624'513 106.0

Savings accounts 4'327'079 4'270'586 1.3

Total due to customers 15'860'465 15'627'049 1.5

24 Debt issued

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 +/–%

Medium-term notes * 437'200 443'244 – 1.4

Shares in bond issues of the Swiss Regional or Cantonal Banks' Central Bond Institutions 790'836 770'000 2.7

Total debt issued 1'228'035 1'213'244 1.2

*  The average interest rate per 31 December 2016 was 0.60 percent and per 31 December 2015 0.73 percent. 
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25 Deferred taxes

in CHF thousands
As at  

1 January

Amount  
recognised in the 

income statement

Amount  
recognised  

in other  
comprehensive 

income

Change from  
additions and  

disposals to  
the scope of  

consolidation
As at  

31 December

Deferred tax assets

2015

Loss carry forwards 1'390 – 134 0 0 1'256

Property and equipment 4'081 0 0 0 4'081

Liability for pension plan 14'722 – 778 1'519 – 2'001 13'463

Derivatives 5'529 – 211 0 – 449 4'869

Total 25'722 – 1'123 1'519 – 2'450 23'669

Offsetting 0

Total, after offsetting 23'669

2016

Loss carry forwards 1'256 29 145 0 1'430

Property and equipment 4'081 – 533 0 0 3'548

Liability for pension plan 13'463 860 1'935 0 16'258

Intangible assets 0 126 0 0 126

Derivatives 4'869 2'091 0 0 6'960

Total 23'669 2'573 2'080 0 28'322

Offsetting – 9'513

Total, after offsetting 18'809

Deferred tax liabilities

2015

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 17 0 0 0 17

Intangible assets 7'582 – 744 0 – 2'258 4'580

Property 949 0 0 0 949

Financial instruments 8'790 499 0 0 9'289

Provisions 7'691 – 361 0 – 548 6'782

Total 25'029 – 606 0 – 2'806 21'617

Offsetting 0

Total, after offsetting 21'617

2016

Credit loss (expense) / recovery 17 – 17 0 0 0

Intangible assets 4'580 – 739 0 0 3'841

Property 949 – 949 24 0 24

Financial instruments 9'289 – 2'649 514 0 7'154

Provisions 6'782 5'458 0 0 12'240

Total 21'617 1'103 538 0 23'258

Offsetting – 9'513

Total, after offsetting 13'745

At 31 December 2016, there existed temporary differences of CHF thou-

sands 3’406 which were not booked as deferred taxes and which in 

future could be offset with potential tax allowances (previous year: 

CHF thousands 4’202).
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The provisions for restructuring relate to the StepUp2020 strategy 

announced in October 2015. As per 31 December 2016, provisions 

amounting to CHF 0.8 million for restructuring, covering estimated 

rebuilding and restoration costs and expenses for social plans were 

allocated. No further significant provisions or restructuring costs are 

to be expected in connection with the announced strategies.

The LLB Group is involved in various legal proceedings within the 

scope of normal banking business. It allocates provisions for ongoing 

and threatened legal proceedings if, in the opinion of LLB, payments 

or losses are likely and the amounts can be estimated.

As per 31 December 2016, the LLB Group was involved in various liti-

gation and proceedings, which could have an impact on its financial 

 reporting. The LLB Group endeavours to disclose the claims for dam-

ages, the scope of legal proceedings and other relevant information 

in order for the reader to be able to estimate the possible risk for the 

LLB Group.

The tax losses which were not recognised as deferred tax assets per  

31 December 2016 expire as follows:

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Within 1 year 0 0

Within 2 to 5 years 0 0

Within 6 to 7 years 0 0

No expiry 3'406 4'202 – 18.9

Total 3'406 4'202 – 18.9

In general, tax losses in Switzerland can be carried forward for seven 

years; in the Principality of Liechtenstein and Austria, they can be 

 carried forward for an unlimited period.

26 Provisions and contingent liabilities

in CHF thousands
Provisions for legal 
and litigation risks

Provisions for other 
business risks and 

restructuring Total 2016 Total 2015

As at 1 January 24'036 1'318 25'354 33'330

Reclassification – 1'760 1'760 0 0

Provisions applied – 93 – 254 – 347 – 4'555

Increase in provisions recognised in the income statement 26'570 2'359 28'929 2'216

Release of provisions recognised in the income statement – 1'796 – 1'069 – 2'865 – 783

Change from disposals to the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 – 4'854

As at 31 December 46'957 4'114 51'071 25'354

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Short-term provisions 51'071 8'354 511.3

Long-term provisions 0 17'000 – 100.0

Total 51'071 25'354 101.4
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LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG, formerly Liechtensteinische Landes-

bank (Switzerland) Ltd., is among the category 1 banks which must 

achieve an individual solution with the US authorities to resolve the 

US taxation dispute. LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG, formerly Liech-

tensteinische Landesbank (Switzerland) Ltd., with its register- ed of-

fice in Zurich-Erlenbach, is responsible for the proceedings. LLB (Swit-

zerland) Ltd. ceased its banking operations at the end of 2013 and since 

October 2014 is no longer subject to supervision by the Swiss Federal 

Financial Market Authority (FINMA). LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG 

is cooperating closely with the US authorities and is working with 

them to achieve a final settlement of the issue, while complying with 

the prevailing legal regulations. As per 31 December 2012, in coopera-

tion with our lawyers, on the basis of talks with the US authorities, 

and taking into consideration differing probabilities, various scenarios 

were discussed in relation to a possible outflow of resources. On the 

basis of these discussions, the management reached the conclusion 

that it is not unlikely that an outflow of resources will occur. Therefore, 

based on the simulated scenarios and a legal analysis as per 31 Decem-

ber 2012, a provision was set aside for a possible outflow of resources 

in connection with the investigation being carried out by the US au-

thorities and the resulting possible payment or settlement to the lat-

ter. In the opinion of the management, the legal risk of an outflow of 

resources in connection with the possibility that LLB Verwaltung 

(Switzerland) AG may not have complied with US law, especially US 

tax law, was still not unlikely as per 31 December 2016. Based on the 

calculation criteria applied in the non-prosecution agreement 

 between LLB AG, Vaduz, and the US authorities, as well as the latest 

information and payments made by other banks, a provision was 

 recorded in the balance sheet by LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG as 

per 31 December 2016. The management believes the provision set 

aside per 31 December 2016 is sufficient.

At the start of 2015, LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG, formerly 

Liechtensteinische Landesbank (Switzerland) Ltd., received two legal 

claims in connection with an investment project. Several persons, who 

have no connection with LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG, had en-

deavoured to persuade an investor to invest a sum in an investment 

project. The investment project did not exist and the persons acting 

fraudulently were able to embezzle a part of the investment sum. The 

claimants have lodged claims against LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) 

AG for the payment of damages in respect of a part of the embezzled 

amount plus interest. LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG denies that 

the actions of a former employee of LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG 

led to the loss. Based on the facts of the case and and the opinion of 

the attorneys, the management of LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG 

currently believes that it can successfully defend itself against both 

claims. LLB Verwaltung (Switzerland) AG has received an undertaking 

from the insurance company with respect to the costs incurred.

The German tax authorities are currently investigating a large number 

of banks in various countries with respect to the suspicion of aiding 

and abetting tax evasion. The Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG is 

also subject to these investigations. With a view to clearing up the 

adverse legacy of previous years, the Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG 

intends to reach an amicable solution. As is the case with other banks, 

the Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG is currently holding discussions 

with the German authorities to establish clarity and legal certainty. 

Taking into consideration the current level of knowledge, the Liech-

tensteinische Landesbank AG set aside a corresponding provision as 

per 31 December 2016. Management considers the amount of the 

 allocated provision to be sufficient.

The LLB Group had no contingent liabilities, either per 31 December 

2016 or per 31 December 2015.
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27 Other liabilities

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Outstanding medium-term notes 124 165 – 24.9

Charge accounts 6'491 17'369 – 62.6

Accounts payable 26'089 19'177 36.0

Clearing accounts 21'461 14'709 45.9

Pension liabilities 116'608 106'664 9.3

Liabilities for outstanding holidays / flexi-time 2'217 2'047 8.3

Liabilities from other long-term benefits 3'914 4'092 – 4.3

Total other liabilities 176'905 164'224 7.7

28 Share capital

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Number of bearer shares (authorised and fully paid up) 30'800'000 30'800'000 0.0

Nominal value per bearer share (in CHF) 5 5 0.0

Total nominal value (in CHF thousands) 154'000 154'000 0.0

29 Share premium

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

As at 1 January 25'785 25'785 0.0

Net movements in treasury shares – 818 0

As at 31 December 24'968 25'785 – 3.2

30 Treasury shares

Quantity
in CHF 

thousands

As at 1 January 2015 1'978'202 168'584

Purchases 0 0

Disposals 0 0

As at 31 December 2015 1'978'202 168'584

Purchases 0 0

Disposals – 18'964 – 1'539

As at 31 December 2016 1'959'238 167'045
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31 Retained earnings

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

As at 1 January 1'709'205 1'671'273 2.3

Net profit attributable to the shareholders of LLB 98'181 82'728 18.7

Dividends of LLB – 46'145 – 43'233 6.7

Increase / (Reduction) in non-controlling interests – 2'426 – 227 970.4

Other changes 0 – 1'336 – 100.0

As at 31 December 1'758'816 1'709'205 2.9

32 Other reserves

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

As at 1 January – 63'849 – 44'108

Foreign currency translation – 419 – 2'280 – 81.6

Actuarial gains / (losses) of pension plans – 13'821 – 18'383 – 24.8

Value changes to financial investments available for sale 3'516 922 281.4

Increase / (Reduction) in non-controlling interests 62 0

As at 31 December – 74'511 – 63'849 16.7

33 Non-controlling interests

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 +/–%

As at 1 January, restated 102'787 101'521

Non-controlling interests in net profit 5'688 3'573 59.2

(Dividend) / Reduction of nominal value in non-controlling interests – 1'623 – 1'609 0.9

Increase / (Reduction) in non-controlling interests 3'269 1'124 190.8

Actuarial gains / (losses) of pension plans – 22 – 1'822 – 98.8

Value changes to financial investments available for sale 47 0

As at 31 December 110'146 102'787 7.2
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Measurement guidelines
The fair value represents a market-based measurement and not  

an entity-specific valuation. It is defined as the price that would be 

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trans-

action between market participants at the measurement date on the 

principal market or the most advantageous market.

As far as possible, the fair value is determined on the basis of the 

quoted market prices in active markets accessible to the company on 

the measurement date. An active, accessible market is one in which 

transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 

 fre quency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing 

basis. The fair value is determined using significant and observable 

inputs. These are basically available in the case of quoted assets or 

 liabilities. If a market for financial or non-financial assets or liabilities 

is inactive, or if no observable inputs, or insufficient observable inputs, 

are available, the LLB Group must employ techniques or processes 

(valuation methods or models) to determine the fair value. The valu-

ation techniques contain assumptions, including estimates, to enable 

an exit price on the measurement date from the perspective of the 

market participant to be determined. However, such assumptions and 

estimates contain uncertainties, which at a later date can lead to sub-

stantial changes in the fair value of financial and non-financial assets 

and liabilities. In the case of financial and non-financial assets and 

 liabilities, for which a valuation technique involving non-observable 

market data is used to determine the fair value, these are measured 

at the transaction price. This fair value can differ from the fair value 

determined on the basis of valuation techniques. 

All financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 

value are categorised into one of the following three fair value 

hierarchies: 

Level 1
The fair value of listed securities and derivatives contained in the trad-

ing portfolio and financial investments is determined on the basis of 

market price quotes on an active market.

Level 2
If no market price quotes are available, the fair value is determined by 

means of valuation methods or models, which are based on assump-

tions made on the basis of observable market prices and other market 

quotes.

Level 3
For the remaining financial instruments neither market price quotes 

nor valuation methods or models based on market prices are available. 

Our own valuation methods or models are employed to measure the 

fair value of these instruments.

Valuation methods
Valuation methods and techniques are employed to determine the fair 

value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities for which no 

observable market prices on an active market are available. These 

 include, in particular, illiquid financial investments. If available, the 

LLB Group uses market-based assumptions and inputs as the basis for 

valuation techniques. If such information is not available, assump-

tions and inputs from comparable assets and liabilities are employed. 

In the case of complex and very illiquid financial and non-financial 

assets and liabilities, the fair value is determined using a combination 

of observable transaction prices and market information. 

34 Fair value measurement
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Measurement of fair values by active markets or valuation 
techniques
The following table shows the classification of fair value hierarchies 

of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities of the LLB Group. 

All assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

in the statement of financial position. As per 31 December 2016, the 

LLB Group had no assets or liabilities which were measured at fair 

value on a non-recurring basis in the balance sheet. In the 2016 busi-

ness year there were no significant transfers between Level 1 and 

Level 2 financial instruments.

Valuation model Inputs Significant, non-observable inputs

Level 2

Own investment funds Market to model Market prices of underlying assets

Derivative financial instruments Option model Underlying assets of future contracts

Level 3

Financial investments at fair value 
through profit and loss Market to model Audited financial statements

Illiquidity, special micro-economic 
conditions

Investment property
External expert opinions, relative values 
in market comparison Prices of comparable properties

Assessment of special property  
factors, expected expenses and  
earnings for the property.

The LLB Group employs standardised and accepted valuation tech-

niques to determine the fair value of financial and non-financial assets 

and liabilities which are not actively traded or listed. In general, the 

LLB Group uses the following valuation methods and techniques as 

well as the following inputs.
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in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – % 

Level 1

Trading portfolio assets 3'613 2'198 64.4

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 831'390 776'408 7.1

Financial investments available for sale 198'745 236'237 – 15.9

Total Level 1 1'033'749 1'014'843 1.9

Level 2

Trading portfolio assets 168 252 – 33.3

Derivative financial instruments 82'607 62'013 33.2

of which for hedging purpose 1'279 392 226.4

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 293'149 366'028 – 19.9

Financial investments available for sale 92'408 59'935 54.2

Total Level 2 468'332 488'228 – 4.1

Level 3

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 22'926 0

Investment property 16'018 16'240 – 1.4

Total Level 3 38'944 16'240 139.8

Total assets 1'541'024 1'519'311 1.4

Level 1

Total Level 1 0 0

Level 2

Derivative financial instruments 161'976 151'593 6.8

of which for hedging purpose 2'178 531 310.5

Total Level 2 161'976 151'593 6.8

Level 3

Total Level 3 0 0

Total liabilities 161'976 151'593 6.8

Measurement of assets and liabilities, classified as Level 3
For the recurring measurement of the fair value of financial invest-

ments for which significant, non-observable inputs have been used 

and which are classified as Level 3, the effects on the income state-

ment in the 2016 business year amounted to CHF 12.2 million. On 

account of the new assessment of the fair value of financial invest-

ments in 2016, there was a reallocation to Level 3. Both at 31 Decem-

ber 2015 and at 31 December 2016, the holdings of financial invest-

ments at the LLB Group were unchanged. For the recurring 

measurement of the fair value of investment property, for which 

significant, non-observable inputs have been used and which are 

classified as Level 3, the effects on the income statement in the 2016 

business year are immaterial and therefore they are not shown. The 

measurement or valuation also had no influence on other compre-

hensive income in 2016. 

The measurement process to determine the fair value of recurring 

and non-recurring Level 3 assets and liabilities, especially the signif-

icant non-observable inputs, as shown in the previous table, are 

explained in the following. The interrelationships between observable 

and non-observable inputs are not explained in the following, because 

such interrelationships have no significant influence on the measure-

ment on fair value.

Financial investments at fair value through profit and loss

Financial investments are periodically valued through profit and loss 

on the basis of market values provided by external experts. The finan-

cial investments consist of the non-listed shares of companies, which 

are periodically revalued on the basis of current company data or by 

third parties with the aid of valuation models. The valuation is made 

available to shareholders. An own valuation by shareholders with the 

aid of a valuation model based on observable or significant non-ob-

servable inputs is therefore unnecessary. How changes would affect 

the fair value, or how sensitively this would react, cannot be quanti-

fied or would have to be based on various assumptions to be made by 

LLB on how the company will develop. Since these are investments 

having an infrastructure character, whereby basically the fair value 
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has changed in the last few years only by the amount of profit  attained, 

a sensitivity analysis would bring no additional benefit for the reader 

of the financial statement. The financial investments do not diverge 

to highest or best use.

Investment property

Investment property is periodically valued by external experts or is 

valued on the basis of relative values in a market comparison. If no 

corresponding values for comparable properties are available, on 

which to base a reliable calculation of the fair value, assumptions are 

made. These assumptions contain assessments and considerations of 

such circumstances as the location and condition of the property, as 

well as the expected costs and revenues with it. Properties are always 

revalued whenever on the basis of events or changed circumstances 

the fair value no longer reflects the market price, so that changes in 

the calculation of the fair value can be promptly determined and rec-

ognised in the accounts. Changes in the inputs, on which the meas-

urement of the fair value is based, can lead to significant changes in 

it. It cannot be quantified to what extent changes influence the fair 

value and the sensitivity of fair value, because the valuation of a prop-

erty is based on an individual measurement, which is influenced by 

various assumptions. Consequently, a significant change in the fair 

value can occur, which is not quantifiable. Investment properties do 

not diverge to highest and best use.

35 Non-current assets held for sale

Properties, which are fully owned by a Group company, are to be sold. 

The transfers of ownership will take place in the first quarter of 2017. 

One property consists of a single-family home, another property con-

tains rental apartments and a business branch. The business branch 

will continue to be used on a leased agreement basis. It is assumed 

that the sale of the properties, which had a carrying value of CHF 0.8 

million per 31 December 2016, will achieve a profit of around CHF 0.1 

million.
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Notes to the consolidated off-balance 
sheet transactions
36 Contingent liabilities and assets

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Collateral guarantees and similar instruments 20'984 22'161 – 5.3

Performance guarantees and similar instruments 41'855 37'945 10.3

Total contingent liabilities 62'839 60'106 4.5

37 Credit risks

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Irrevocable commitments 254'805 275'134 – 7.4

Pay-in and pay-up obligations 9'104 8'964 1.6

Total credit risks 263'909 284'097 – 7.1

38 Fiduciary transactions

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Fiduciary deposits with other banks 221'961 100'567 120.7

Fiduciary loans 403'604 482'947 – 16.4

Other fiduciary financial transactions 404'810 490'026 – 17.4

Total fiduciary transactions 1'030'375 1'073'540 – 4.0

39 Lending and pension transactions with securities

LLB has own securities which have been lent or pledged by LLB. These 

are recognised in LLB’s balance sheet and recorded in the table below. 

Furthermore, securities owned by third parties, which LLB received as 

collateral and in some cases has repledged or resold are reported in 

the table. These are not recognised in LLB’s balance sheet.

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Carrying value Actual liability Carrying value Actual liability

Self-owned securities lent or delivered as collateral within the scope of securities  
lending or borrowing transactions, or self-owned securities transferred in connection 
with reverse repurchase agreements 33'391 33'391 9'699 9'699

of which capable of being resold or further pledged without restrictions 33'391 33'391 9'699 9'699

Securities received as collateral within the scope of securities lending or securities  
received in connection with reverse repurchase agreements, which are capable  
of being resold or further pledged without restrictions 0 622'876 0 1'143'165

of which resold or further pledged securities 0 42'707 0 18'772
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Pension plans and other  
long-term benefits
40 Pension plans

Post-employment benefits

The LLB Group has established a number of pension plans in compli-

ance with prevailing legal provisions, which insure most employees in 

the event of death, invalidity and retirement. In addition, further plans 

exist for long-service anniversaries, which qualify as other long-term 

employee benefits. In the case of the pension plans, contributions are 

made by employees, which are then supplemented by corresponding 

contributions from the LLB Group. The pension schemes are financed 

in compliance with the local legal and fiscal regulations. The risk bene-

fits are based on the insured salary and the pension benefits on the 

accumulated capital. The assets of the funded pension plans are held 

within separate foundations or insurances and may not revert to the 

employer. The mortality rates specified in the Professional Pensions 

Law 2015 (BVG 2015) were employed to calculate the mortality, life 

expectancy and invalidity rates for all pension plans. The last actuarial 

valuations were performed on 31 December 2016 and 31 December 

2015. The actuarial gains and losses are included in other comprehen-

sive income. Joint committees are set up for pension plans, which are 

administered via collective foundations.

The foundation board of the autonomous pension foundation is 

also composed of an equal number of employee and employer 

represen tatives. On the basis of the legal provisions and the pension 

plan regulations, the foundation board is obligated to act solely in the 

interest of the foundation and the actively insured persons and pen-

sioners. Consequently, in this pension plan the employer itself may not 

decide on benefits and their financing, rather decisions must be taken 

on equal terms.

The foundation board is responsible for determining the investment 

strategy, for amendments to the pension plan regulations, and espe-

cially for the financing of the pension plan benefits. The foundation 

board members of the pension plans specify investment guidelines for 

the investment of the pension plan assets, which contain the tactical 

asset allocation and the benchmarks for the comparison of perform-

ance with a general investment universe. The assets of the pension 

plans are well diversified. With regard to diversification and security, 

the legal provisions of the BPVG Pension Law apply to pension plans 

in Liechtenstein, and the legal provisions of the BVG Pension Law apply 

to pension plans in Switzerland. The foundation board members con-

tinually monitor whether the selected investment strategy is suitable 

for the provision of the pension plan benefits and whether the risk 

budget corresponds to the demographic structure. The observance of 

the investment guidelines and the investment performance of the 

investment advisers are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In addition, the 

investment strategy and its suitability and effectiveness are periodic-

ally checked by an external consultant.

The pension plan is designed as a defined contribution plan, i.e. a sav-

ings account is maintained for all the retirement benefits of each em-

ployee. The annual savings contributions and interest (no negative 

interest is possible) are credited to the pension savings account annu-

ally. At the time of retirement, the insured person may choose be-

tween a life-long pension, which includes a reversional spouse pen-

sion, or the withdrawal of the savings capital. In addition to the 

retirement benefits, the pension plan also includes invalidity and 

partner pensions. These are calculated on the basis of the insured an-

nual salary (defined benefit plan). Furthermore, the insured employee 

may purchase improvements to his pension plan up to a maximum 

sum specified in the regulations. If the employee leaves the company, 

the savings credit balance is transferred to the new employer’s pension 

plan or to a blocked pension savings account. When determining the 

benefits, the minimum provisions of the Professional Pension Plans 

Law (BPVG) and its implementing ordinance are to be observed. The 

minimum salary to be insured and the minimum pension savings bal-

ance sum are stipulated in the BPVG. On account of the pension plan 

structure and the legal provisions of the BPVG, the employer is subject 

to actuarial risks. The most important of these are investment risk, 

interest rate risk and longevity risk. The risks of death and invalidity 

have been congruently re-insured since. Currently, the individually 

accumulated pension capital is converted into a life-long pension at 

age 64 with a pension conversion rate of 5.60 percent. This conversion 

rate is reduced annually and will amount to 5.10 percent from 1 January 

2022. Amendments to the contribution payments made by the bank, 

the associate companies, or the employees – in accordance with the 

regulations – require the approval of the bank, the associate compa-

nies and a majority of all employees. The employer must bear at least 

half of the contributions. In the event of underfunding, financial re-

covery contributions may be charged to both the employer and the 

employee to eliminate the shortfall in coverage.
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One-time effects influencing pension plans and other 
long-term benefits

The Pension Fund Foundation of LLB AG reduced the conversion rate 

for the calculation of the life-long pension. In the 2016 business year 

this led to a one-time reduction in the benefit expenses for defined 

benefit plans of CHF 10.2 million.

The following amounts were recognised in the income statement and 

equity as pension costs:

Benefit expenses

Pensions plans Other long-term benefits

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 2016 2015

Defined benefit costs

Service cost

Current service cost – 16'090 – 16'561 – 452 – 420

Past service cost including effects of curtailment 10'202 7'938 0 247

Gain / (Losses) from non-routine settlements 0 2'825 0 0

Total service cost – 5'888 – 5'798 – 452 – 173

Net interest

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation – 3'981 – 5'655 – 33 0

Interest income on plan assets 3'245 4'683 0 0

Total net interest – 736 – 972 – 33 0

Administration expense – 600 – 677 0 0

Net actuarial (losses) / gains recognised 0 0 125 – 278

Total defined benefit cost – 7'224 – 7'447 – 360 – 451

of which personal expense – 7'224 – 7'447 – 360 – 451

of which financial expense 0 0 0 0

Contributions to defined contribution plans – 212 – 215 0 0

Remeasurement of the defined benefit liability

Actuarial (gains) / losses

Arising from changes in demographic assumptions 2'897 0

Arising from changes in economic assumptions – 11'331 – 22'640

Arising from experience – 13'817 4'426

Return on plan assets (excl. amounts in interest income) 6'473 – 3'510

Total defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income – 15'778 – 21'724

Total benefit cost – 23'214 – 29'386 – 360 – 451
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Development of plan obligations

Pensions plans Other long-term benefits

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 2016 2015

As at 1 January 483'502 522'886 4'092 4'134

Current service cost 16'090 16'561 452 420

Plan participation contributions 6'910 6'580 0 0

Interest costs 3'981 5'655 33 53

Benefits paid through pension assets – 6'026 – 15'929 0 0

Benefits paid by employer – 2 – 1 – 536 – 479

Actuarial (gains) / losses 22'251 18'214 – 125 278

Plan amendments – 10'202 – 7'938 0 13

Liabilities extinguished on business divestiture 0 – 62'526 0 – 313

Exchange rate differences 0 0 – 2 0

Others 0 0 0 – 14

As at 31 December 516'504 483'502 3'914 4'092

of which active employees 357'399 349'298

of which pensioners 159'105 134'204

Average term of obligation 18.3 18.5

Development of plan assets

Pension plans

in CHF thousands 2016 2015

As at 1 January 376'838 422'608

Plan participation contributions 6'910 6'580

Company contributions 13'056 12'777

Assets extinguished on business divestiture 0 – 49'694

Interest income on plan assets 3'245 4'683

Administration expense – 600 – 677

Benefits paid through pension assets – 6'026 – 15'929

Return on plan assets (excl. amounts in interest income) 6'473 – 3'510

As at 31 December  399'896 376'838

The pension fund assets per 31 December 2016 include shares of LLB 

with a market value of CHF thousands 10 (31. 12. 2015: CHF thousands 

16). The expected Group contributions for the 2017 financial year 

amount to CHF thousands 12’861 for the pension plans and CHF thou-

sands 511 for the other long-term benefits.
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Overview of the net debt recognised in the balance sheet

Pension plans Other long-term benefits

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Present value of funded obligations 516'002 483'426 0 0

Minus fair value of plan assets 399'896 376'838 0 0

Under- / (Over-)funded 116'106 106'588 0 0

Present value of unfunded obligations 502 76 3'914 4'092

Net debt recognised in the balance sheet 116'608 106'664 3'914 4'092

Asset classes and expected returns

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Share of total assets Share of total assets

Equities

quoted market prices (Level 1) 80'977 82'756

other than quoted market prices 0 0

Bonds

quoted market prices (Level 1) 150'954 154'459

other than quoted market prices 0 0

Real estate

quoted market prices (Level 1) 1'193 866

other than quoted market prices 24'894 19'500

Alternative financial investments 910 0

Qualified insurance policies 91'888 83'617

Other financial investments 18'790 23'237

Cash 30'290 12'403

The expected return on bonds and shares is based on the yield for long-

term Federal notes and the corresponding market expectations. The 

remaining expected returns are based on empirical values.
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Weighted average of principal actuarial assumptions

Pension plans Other long-term benefits

in percent 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Discount rate 0.70 0.85 0.74 0.90

Future salary increases 1.50 1.50 1.56 1.55

Future pension indexations 0.05 0.05 0.94 0.00

Life expectancy at the age of 65

Year of birth 1971 1970 1971 1970

men 24.18 23.24 24.18 23.24

women 26.22 25.67 26.22 25.67

Year of birth 1951 1950 1951 1950

men 22.26 21.49 22.26 21.49

women 24.32 23.96 24.32 23.96

Sensitivity analysis of significant actuarial assumptions

The following sensitivity analysis for the significant actuarial assump-

tions, on which calculations are based, shows how the cash value  

of pension obligations would change on the balance sheet date on 

 account of a possible change in the actuarial assumptions.

Pension plans

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

+ 0.25 % – 0.25 % + 0.25 % – 0.25 %

Discount rate – 23'242 25'009 – 21'525 23'141

Salary increase 2'132 – 2'076 2'324 – 2'273

Interest credit rate 5'369 – 5'235 5'198 – 5'064

+ 1 year – 1 year + 1 year – 1 year

Life expectancy 13'726 – 13'923 12'318 – 12'527



160
Related party transactions

LLB Annual Report 2016

Related party transactions

The LLB Group is controlled by the Principality of Liechtenstein, which 

holds 57.5 percent of the bearer shares of Liechtensteinische Landes-

bank AG, Vaduz. At the end of the year under report, LLB held 6.4 per-

cent of its own shares (previous year: 6.4 %), 3.0 percent were held by 

Thornburg Investment Management Inc. and 0.1 percent were held by 

members of the Board of Directors and the Board of Management. The 

remaining bearer shares are owned by the general public.

The related parties of the LLB Group comprise the Principality of 

Liechtenstein, associated companies, members of the Board of Direc-

tors and the Group Executive Management, as well as their close 

family members and enterprises which are controlled by these individ-

uals through their majority shareholding, or their role as chairman 

and / or CEO in these companies, as well as their own pension funds.

Within the scope of its business activity, the LLB Group also con-

ducts banking transactions with related parties. These transactions 

mainly involve loans, investments and services. The volumes of these 

transactions, the holdings and corresponding income and expenses 

are shown below.

See “Scope of consolidation”, page 163 for a detailed list of the par-

ent / subsidiary relationships of the LLB Group.

41 Related parties

Compensation of key management personnel

Fixed  
compensation *

Variable  
compensation

Contribution to  
benefit plans  

and other social  
contributions

Share-based  
payments Entitlements Total

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Compensations

Members of the Board of Directors ** 764 764 0 0 107 110 0 0 170 170 1'041 1'044

Members of the  
Board of Management *** 3'120 3'134 1'131 481 1'020 1'022 0 0 1'131 481 6'402 5'118

*  Fixed compensation fee, meeting allowances.
**  The Board of Directors comprises seven members.
***  The Board of Management comprises six members.

Loans of key management personnel

Fixed mortgages Variable mortgages Total

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

Members of the Board of Directors

Hans-Werner Gassner, Chairman 0 0 0 0 0 0

Markus Foser, Vice Chairman 1'000 300 0 0 1'000 300

Markus Büchel, Member 1'291 1'294 0 0 1'291 1'294

Patrizia Holenstein, Member 0 0 0 0 0 0

Roland Oehri, Member 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gabriela Nagel-Jungo, Member 400 400 0 0 400 400

Urs Leinhäuser, Member 0 0 0 0 0 0

Related parties 1'425 1'580 0 0 1'425 1'580

Total 4'116 3'574 0 0 4'116 3'574

Members of the Board of Management

Roland Matt, CEO 1'005 1'255 0 0 1'005 1'255

Other members of the Board of Management 2'810 2'810 0 0 2'810 2'810

Related parties 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 3'815 4'065 0 0 3'815 4'065
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At 31 December 2016, the maturities of the fixed mortgages for the 

members of the Board of Directors and related parties ranged be-

tween 13 and 107 months (previous year: between 11 and 119 months) 

at standard market client interest rates of 0.95 to 1.65 percent p.a. 

(previous year: 1.10 to 1.60 %). At 31 December 2016, the maturities of 

the fixed mortgages for the members of the Board of Management 

ranged between 22 and 102 months (previous year: between 1 and  

114 months) at interest rates of 0.4 to 1.88 percent p.a. (previous year: 

1.05 to 2.88 %). 

Of the total amount for mortgages for the members of the Board of 

Management, CHF thousands 1’000 (previous year: CHF thousands 

750) was granted at the preferential interest rate for staff, the remain-

der was subject to the standard market client interest rate. In the 

previous year, no new loans were granted. 

The fair value of cover of new loans granted amounted to CHF thou-

sands 1’577 (previous year: CHF thousands 1’577). 

No allowances for loans to management were necessary. LLB granted 

third parties guarantees amounting to CHF thousands 168 (previous 

year: CHF thousands 0) for management and related parties.

Transactions with management

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Loans

As at 1 January 7'639 7'926 – 3.6

Loans issued during the year 700 300 133.3

Loan repayment during the year – 408 – 587 – 30.5

As at 31 December 7'931 7'639 3.8

Deposits

As at 1 January 4'673 4'792 – 2.5

Change 697 – 119

As at 31 December 5'370 4'673 14.9

Income and expenses

Interest income 112 144 – 22.3

Interest expenses – 2 – 8 – 75.0

Other income * 18 14 28.6

Other expenses ** – 4 – 2 100.0

Total 124 148 – 16.3

*  Mainly net fee and commission income.
**  Services in connection with consultation.
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Transactions with own pension funds

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Loans

As at 1 January 765 1'444 – 47.0

Change – 423 – 679 – 37.7

As at 31 December 342 765 – 55.3

Deposits

As at 1 January 7'812 5'621 39.0

Change 9'785 2'191 346.6

As at 31 December 17'597 7'812 125.3

Income and expenses

Interest income 0 0

Interest expenses – 8 – 27 – 70.4

Other income * 641 627 2.2

Other expenses 2 – 12

Total 635 588 8.0

*  Mainly net fee and commission income.

No guarantees have been granted by the LLB Group for third parties

on behalf of own pension funds.

Transactions with associated companies 

in CHF thousands 2016 2015 + / – %

Loans

As at 1 January 0 0

Change 0 0

As at 31 December 0 0

Deposits

As at 1 January 546 452 20.8

Change 196 94 108.7

As at 31 December 742 546 35.9

Income and expenses

Other income 1 1 – 11.0

Total 1 1 – 11.0

No guarantees were granted by the LLB Group for third parties for  

associated companies.
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Scope of consolidation
Equity interest 
(in percent)

Companies
Jurisdiction of 
incorporation Business activity Currency Capital Stock IFRS Legal

Fully consolidated companies

Bank Linth LLB AG * Uznach Bank CHF 16'108'060 74.8 74.2

Liechtensteinische Landesbank AG Vaduz Bank CHF 154'000'000 100.0 100.0

Liechtensteinische Landesbank (Österreich) AG Vienna Bank EUR 2'000'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Asset Management AG Vaduz
Asset management 
company CHF 1'000'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Berufliche Vorsorge AG Lachen Staff welfare scheme CHF 500'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Beteiligungen AG Uznach Investment company CHF 100'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Fund Services AG Vaduz
Fund management  
company CHF 2'000'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Holding (Schweiz) AG Erlenbach Holding company CHF 250'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Invest AGmvK Vaduz Investment company CHF 50'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Linth Holding AG Uznach Holding company CHF 95'328'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Qualified Investors AGmvK Vaduz Investment company CHF 50'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Services (Schweiz) AG Erlenbach Service company CHF 100'000 100.0 100.0

LLB Verwaltung (Schweiz) AG Erlenbach Management company CHF 100'000'000 100.0 100.0

Zukunftsstiftung der Liechtensteinischen 
Landesbank AG Vaduz Charitable foundation CHF 30'000 100.0 100.0

Associated companies and joint ventures

Data Info Services AG Vaduz Service Company CHF 50'000 50.0 50.0

Companies fully consolidated for the first time

None

Companies removed from the scope of consolidation

None

Changes in company names during 2016

None

*  On 31 December 2016, the LLB Group held 74.2 percent of the share capital and votes of Bank Linth LLB AG. Bank Linth LLB AG held 4'985 of its own shares on 31 December 2016.  
This increased the LLB Group’s participation in Bank Linth LLB AG and deviated from the legal group participation by the said number of own shares.

In the year under report there were no disposals or losses of control of 

ownership interests. As per 31 December 2016 and per 31 December 

2015, there were no major restrictions in respect of the possibility to 

access assets of the Group companies or to appropriate them. As per 

31 December 2016 and per 31 December 2015, there were no participa-

tions in consolidated structured companies.
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Risk management 
Principles of risk management 

One of the core competences of a financial institute is to consciously 

accept risks and manage them profitably. In its risk policy, the  

LLB Group defines qualitative and quantitative standards of risk re-

sponsibility, risk management and risk control. Furthermore, the 

organisational and methodical parameters for the identification, 

measurement, control and monitoring of risks are specified. The 

 proactive management of risk is an integral part of corporate policy 

and safeguards the LLB Group’s ability to bear and accept risk.

Organisation and responsibilities

Group Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the LLB Group is responsible for stipulating risk 

management principles, as well as for specifying responsibilities and 

procedures for approving business transactions entailing risk. In fulfill-

ing its tasks and duties, the Group Board of Directors is supported by 

the Group Risk Committee.

Group Executive Board
The Group Executive Board is responsible for the overall manage-

ment of risk readiness within the parameters defined by the Group 

Board of Directors and for the implementation of the risk manage-

ment processes. It is supported in this task by Risk Committee.

Group Credit & Risk Management 
The Group Credit & Risk Management Department identifies, assesses, 

monitors and reports on the principal risk exposure of the LLB Group 

and is functionally and organisationally independent of the operative 

units. It supports the Group Executive Board in the overall manage-

ment of risk exposure.

Risk categories

The LLB Group is exposed to various types of risks. It differentiates 

between the following risk categories:

Market risk
The risk of losses arises from unfavourable changes in interest rates, 

exchange rates, securities prices and other relevant market 

parameters.

Liquidity and refinancing risk
Represents the risk of not being able to fulfil payment obligations on 

time or not being able to obtain refinancing funds on the market at 

a reasonable price to fulfil current or future payment liabilities.

Credit risk
Credit or counterparty risk includes the danger that a client or a coun-

terparty cannot or cannot completely fulfil their obligations vis à vis 

the LLB Group or an individual group company. This can result in a fi-

nancial loss for the LLB Group.

Operational risk
Is the danger of losses due to the unsuitability or failure of internal 

procedures, people or systems, or as a result of external events.

Strategic risk
Arises as a result of decisions taken by the Group Executive Board, 

which have a negative influence on the survival, development ability 

or independence of the LLB Group.

Reputation risk
If risks are not recognised, reasonably controlled and monitored, this 

can lead not only to substantial financial losses, but also to damage 

to the group’s reputation.

Risk categories

Reputation risk

 Market risk  Liquidity and refinancing risk Credit risk

 Operational risk  Strategic risk
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Risk management process 

The implementation of an efficient risk management process is essen-

tial to enable risks to be identified, assessed, controlled and moni-

tored, and should create a culture of risk awareness at all levels of the 

LLB Group. The Group Board of Directors specifies the risk strategy, 

which provides the operative units with a framework for the treat-

ment of risk exposure. Depending on the type of risk, not only the 

stipulation of upper limits for losses may be required, but also a de-

tailed set of regulations which stipulate which risks may be accepted 

under what conditions, and when measures to control risks are to be 

implemented. 

The diagram risk management process shows the control loop of the 

LLB Group’s risk management process.

1 Market risks

Market risk is the risk that arises from changes in interest rates, ex-

change rates and security prices in the financial and capital markets. 

A differentiation is made between market risks in the trading book and 

market risks in the banking book. The potential for losses exists pri-

marily in the impairment of the value of an asset or the increase in the 

value of liabilities (market value perspective) as well as in secondary 

capacity in the diminution of current earnings or an increase in current 

expenditures (earnings perspective).

1.1 Market risk management

The LLB Group has in place a differentiated risk management and risk 

control system for market risks. The market risk control process com-

prises a sophisticated framework of rules involving the identification 

and the uniform valuation of market risk-relevant data as well as the 

control, monitoring and reporting of market risks.

Trading book
The trading book contains own positions in financial instruments 

which are held for short-term further sale or repurchase. These activ-

ities are closely associated with the needs of our clients for capital 

market products and are regarded as being supporting activities for 

our core business. 

The LLB Group conducts relatively small scale trading book activities 

in accordance with Article 94 (1) CRR. A limits system is in operation 

to ensure compliance and is monitored by Group Risk Management. 

On account of the materiality, the trading book is no longer explained 

in detail.

Banking book
In general, the holdings in the banking book are employed to pursue 

long-term investment goals. These holdings include assets, liabilities, 

and off-balance sheet positions, which are the result, on the one hand, 

of classical banking business and, on the other, are held to earn reve-

nue over their life. 

Market risks with the banking book mainly involve interest rate 

fluctuation risk, exchange rate risk and equity price risk.

Interest rate fluctuation risk
This is regarded as the adverse effects of changes in market interest 

rates on capital resources or current earnings. The different interest 

maturity periods of claims and liabilities from balance sheet transac-

tions and derivatives represent the most important basis.

Exchange rate risk
This relates to the risks arising in connection with the uncertainties 

regarding future exchange rate trends. The calculation of these risks 

takes into consideration all the positions entered into by the bank.

Risk management process

Group Credit &  
Risk Management 

Group Credit &  
Risk Management 

Group Credit &  
Risk Management 

Management / 
Group Credit &  

Risk Management

Group Credit &  
Risk Management

 Risk identification Risk assessment Risk reporting Risk management Risk monitoring

Process monitoring Group Internal Audit

Risk policy / Risk strategy Group Board of Directors

→
 

 

→ → → →
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Equity price risk
This is understood to be the risk of losses due to adverse changes in 

the market prices of equities.

1.2 Valuation of market risks

Sensitivity analysis
In sensitivity analysis a risk factor is altered. Subsequently, the effects 

of the alteration of the risk factor on the portfolio concerned are 

estimated.

Value-at-risk
The value-at-risk concept measures the potential loss under normal 

market conditions over a given time interval.

Scenario analysis
While the value-at-risk concept supplies an indication of possible 

losses under normal market conditions, it cannot provide informa-

tion about potential losses under extreme conditions. The aim of 

 the scenario analyses of the LLB Group is to simulate the effects of 

normal and stress scenarios.

1.3 Distribution of market risks

Within the specified limit parameters, the individual group compa-

nies are at liberty to manage their interest rate risks as they wish. 

Interest rate swaps are employed mainly to control interest rate risks. 

Risks are restricted by means of value-at–risk models and sensitivity 

limits. In client business, currency risks are basically controlled by 

making investments or obtaining refinancing in matching currencies. 

The residual currency risk is restricted by means of sensitivity limits. 

Investments in equities are limited by the imposition of nominal 

limits.

1.4 Monitoring and reporting of market risks

Group Credit & Risk Management monitors the observance of market 

risk limits and is also responsible for reporting market risks.

1.5 Value-at-risk and sensitivities by risk categories

Value-at-risk
The value-at-risk is an estimate of the potential loss under normal 

market conditions and is calculated at the LLB Group on the basis of   

a confidence level of 99 percent and a holding period of twelve weeks. 

Calculation is made based on historical value-at-risk.

Sensitivities
Interest rate sensitivity measures the market change on inter-

est-rate-sensitive instruments for the LLB Group caused by a linear 

interest rate adjustment of + / – 100 basis points. 

In contrast, currency sensitivity affects both interest rate sensitive 

and non-interest rate sensitive instruments. The sensitivity of instru-

ments in foreign currencies is determined by multiplying the CHF 

market value by the assumed exchange rate fluctuation of + / – 10 

percent. 

The equity price risks are measured assuming a price fluctuation of 

+ / – 10 percent on the equity market.

Effects on group net profit and equity

Exchange rate risk
The price gains resulting from the valuation of transactions and bal-

ances are booked to profit and loss. The price gains resulting from the 

transfer of the functional currency into the reporting currency are 

booked under other comprehensive income without affecting profit 

and loss.

Interest fluctuation risk
Within the scope of financial risk management, interest fluctuation 

risk in the balance sheet business of the LLB Group is primarily secured 

by means of interest rate swaps. The LLB Group recognises client loans 

in the balance sheet at amortised cost. This means that a change in 

the interest rate does not cause any change in the recognised amount 

and therefore to no significant recognition affecting profit and loss of 

the effects of interest rate fluctuation. To offset the value adjustments 

of interest rate hedging transactions, which are to be booked to profit 

and loss, the LLB Group introduced fair value hedge accounting at 

portfolio level for interest fluctuation risks from 1 October 2015 (see 

page 122, point 2.8, Derivative financial instruments and hedge 

accounting). 

At 31.12.2016, mortgage loans stood at CHF 9’986 million. The ex-

change rate risks applying to this portfolio are hedged at 13.6 percent 

through interest rate swaps

Equity price risk
The valuation is carried out at current market prices. The equity price 

risk resulting from the valuation at current market prices is reflected 

in the income statement and in other comprehensive income.
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Sensitivities
31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Value-at-risk Sensitivity Value-at-risk Sensitivity

Currency risk 10'581 10'132

of which affecting net income 6'505 56

of which not affecting net income 4'076 10'076

Interest rate risk 25'547 52'598 34'130 49'815

of which affecting net income 20'716 24'424

of which not affecting net income 31'882 25'391

Equity price risk * 38'556 36'603

of which affecting net income 29'315 36'603

of which not affecting net income 9'241 0

*  Corresponds to a 10 percent change in equity instruments.

Exchange rate risk by currency
31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Sensitivity Sensitivity

Currency risk 10'581 10'132

of which USD 856 2'599

of which EUR 8'593 6'802

of which others 1'131 731

Interest fluctuation risk by currency

Increase per 100 basis points in CHF thousands Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

31. 12. 2015

CHF – 7 – 2'505 7'542 4'497 – 47'309 – 37'782

EUR – 18 562 – 3'352 – 3'202 – 396 – 6'405

USD – 18 561 – 3'372 – 3'499 – 1'083 – 7'411

Other currencies – 3 82 – 906 2'329 281 1'783

All currencies – 47 – 1'299 – 88 125 – 48'507 – 49'815

31. 12. 2016

CHF – 3 – 2'993 8'212 6'324 – 53'036 – 41'495

EUR – 8 240 – 3'238 – 1'063 – 102 – 4'171

USD – 8 312 – 2'267 – 4'940 – 207 – 7'109

Other currencies – 4 188 – 70 63 0 176

All currencies – 23 – 2'253 2'638 384 – 53'344 – 52'598
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1.6 Currency risks

Balance sheet by currency per 31 December 2015

in CHF thousands CHF USD EUR Others Total

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 2'537'454 857 20'955 706 2'559'972

Due from banks 342'579 1'688'472 1'737'013 486'010 4'254'074

Loans 10'210'865 512'381 233'625 34'619 10'991'490

Trading portfolio assets 2'443 1 6 0 2'450

Derivative financial instruments 59'930 17 895 1'171 62'013

Financial investments at fair value 974'822 275'341 185'423 3'022 1'438'608

Investment in joint venture 47 0 0 0 47

Property and equipment 123'077 0 244 0 123'321

Investment property 16'240 0 0 0 16'240

Goodwill and other intangible assets 124'434 0 59 0 124'493

Current tax assets 0 0 0 0 0

Deferred tax assets 23'669 0 0 0 23'669

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 33'024 7'518 5'155 230 45'927

Non-current assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0

Other assets 1'456 210 3'877 22'277 27'820

Total assets reported in the balance sheet 14'450'040 2'484'797 2'187'252 548'035 19'670'122

Delivery claims from forex spot, forex futures and forex options transactions 2'701'115 2'458'905 2'108'035 743'473 8'011'528

Total assets 17'151'155 4'943'702 4'295'287 1'291'508 27'681'651

Liabilities and equity

Due to banks 521'891 30'123 26'159 95'461 673'634

Due to customers 10'382'867 2'538'094 2'184'990 521'097 15'627'049

Derivative financial instruments 149'513 17 892 1'171 151'593

Debt issued 1'199'568 0 13'676 0 1'213'244

Current tax liabilities 6'172 0 0 0 6'172

Deferred tax liabilities 21'617 0 0 0 21'617

Accrued expenses and deferred income 18'244 4'618 4'840 189 27'891

Provisions 25'354 0 0 0 25'354

Other liabilities 143'263 5'414 14'355 1'192 164'224

Share capital 154'000 0 0 0 154'000

Share premium 25'785 0 0 0 25'785

Treasury shares – 168'584 0 0 0 – 168'584

Retained earnings 1'709'205 0 0 0 1'709'205

Other reserves – 63'849 0 0 0 – 63'849

Non-controlling interests 102'787 0 0 0 102'787

Liabilities and equity reported in the balance sheet 14'227'833 2'578'266 2'244'912 619'110 19'670'122

Delivery liabilities from forex spot, forex futures and forex options transactions 3'021'099 2'339'449 1'982'353 665'089 8'007'990

Total liabilities and equity 17'248'932 4'917'715 4'227'265 1'284'199 27'678'111

Net position per currency – 97'777 25'987 68'022 7'309 3'540
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Balance sheet by currency per 31 December 2016

in CHF thousands CHF USD EUR Others Total

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 3'362'665 527 87'091 443 3'450'726

Due from banks 350'834 1'042'206 1'236'917 484'904 3'114'861

Loans 10'618'047 568'203 274'832 77'794 11'538'876

Trading portfolio assets 3'612 164 5 0 3'781

Derivative financial instruments 80'776 462 15 1'354 82'607

Financial investments at fair value 966'071 323'351 145'001 4'195 1'438'618

Investment in joint venture 47 0 0 0 47

Property and equipment 124'409 0 561 0 124'970

Investment property 16'018 0 0 0 16'018

Goodwill and other intangible assets 118'403 0 29 0 118'432

Current tax assets 1'205 0 0 0 1'205

Deferred tax assets 18'809 0 0 0 18'809

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 23'402 4'663 4'223 279 32'567

Non-current assets held for sale 845 0 0 0 845

Other assets 3'152 12 267 12'336 15'767

Total assets reported in the balance sheet 15'688'295 1'939'588 1'748'941 581'304 19'958'129

Delivery claims from forex spot, forex futures and forex options transactions 2'418'568 3'023'018 2'292'267 909'190 8'643'043

Total assets 18'106'863 4'962'606 4'041'208 1'490'494 28'601'172

Liabilities and equity

Due to banks 515'203 11'970 70'724 25'035 622'932

Due to customers 10'608'453 2'595'748 2'062'784 593'480 15'860'465

Derivative financial instruments 161'208 462 15 291 161'976

Debt issued 1'218'479 0 9'556 0 1'228'035

Current tax liabilities 10'398 0 0 0 10'398

Deferred tax liabilities 13'745 0 0 0 13'745

Accrued expenses and deferred income 18'127 5'360 2'548 192 26'227

Provisions 51'071 0 0 0 51'071

Other liabilities 164'105 2'816 8'937 1'047 176'905

Share capital 154'000 0 0 0 154'000

Share premium 24'968 0 0 0 24'968

Treasury shares – 167'045 0 0 0 – 167'045

Retained earnings 1'758'816 0 0 0 1'758'816

Other reserves – 74'511 0 0 0 – 74'511

Non-controlling interests 110'146 0 0 0 110'146

Liabilities and equity reported in the balance sheet 14'567'164 2'616'356 2'154'564 620'045 19'958'129

Delivery liabilities from forex spot, forex futures and forex options transactions 3'644'920 2'337'690 1'800'714 859'135 8'642'459

Total liabilities and equity 18'212'084 4'954'046 3'955'278 1'479'180 28'600'587

Net position per currency – 105'221 8'561 85'930 11'315 585
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1.7 Interest rate repricing balance sheet

Interest commitments of financial assets and liabilities (nominal)

in CHF thousands Within 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

31. 12. 2015

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks 2'559'972 0 0 0 0 2'559'972

Due from banks 2'443'001 472'688 1'165'230 100'000 0 4'180'919

Loans 1'576'050 1'998'215 1'188'700 4'532'461 1'688'483 10'983'909

Trading portfolio assets 0 0 0 870 1'600 2'470

Financial investments 11'884 82'277 169'640 673'097 116'489 1'053'386

Total financial assets 6'590'906 2'553'181 2'523'570 5'306'428 1'806'572 18'780'657

Derivative financial instruments 140'000 401'000 863'482 40'000 0 1'444'482

Total 6'730'906 2'954'181 3'387'052 5'346'428 1'806'572 20'225'139

Financial liabilities

Due to banks 358'566 70'065 195'000 50'000 0 673'631

Due to customers 7'196'897 1'135'714 2'694'698 4'510'137 0 15'537'446

Debt issued 8'803 17'270 156'300 624'402 406'470 1'213'244

Total financial liabilities 7'564'266 1'223'049 3'045'998 5'184'538 406'470 17'424'321

Derivative financial instruments 20'000 5'000 153'482 556'000 710'000 1'444'482

Total 7'584'266 1'228'049 3'199'480 5'740'538 1'116'470 18'868'803

Interest rate repricing exposure – 853'360 1'726'132 187'572 – 394'110 690'102 1'356'336

31. 12. 2016

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks 3'450'726 0 0 0 0 3'450'726

Due from banks 1'490'128 412'424 1'112'328 0 0 3'014'881

Loans 1'803'964 2'122'006 1'344'164 4'599'144 1'632'364 11'501'642

Trading portfolio assets 0 0 0 1'368 2'530 3'898

Financial investments 19'490 42'397 140'269 738'151 76'176 1'016'483

Total financial assets 6'764'308 2'576'827 2'596'762 5'338'662 1'711'070 18'987'630

Derivative financial instruments 120'000 416'000 810'000 15'000 0 1'361'000

Total 6'884'308 2'992'827 3'406'762 5'353'662 1'711'070 20'348'630

Financial liabilities

Due to banks 267'217 35'000 240'000 80'000 0 622'217

Due to customers 7'126'131 1'325'260 2'854'055 4'417'172 30'029 15'752'647

Debt issued 6'980 16'478 198'571 606'041 395'890 1'223'960

Total financial liabilities 7'400'328 1'376'738 3'292'627 5'103'212 425'919 17'598'824

Derivative financial instruments 0 15'000 170'000 556'000 620'000 1'361'000

Total 7'400'328 1'391'738 3'462'627 5'659'212 1'045'919 18'959'824

Interest rate repricing exposure – 516'020 1'601'089 – 55'865 – 305'550 665'151 1'388'806

In the interest rate repricing balance sheet excess assets, equity and 

liability are calculated using fixed-interest rate and derivative posi-

tions in the balance sheet and broken down interest commitments of 

financial assets and liabilities (nominal) into cycle times. The positions 

within an unspecified duration of interest rate repricing are allocated 

to the corresponding cycle times on the basis of a replication.
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2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as a situation where present and future pay-

ment obligations cannot be fully met or met on time, or in the event 

of a liquidity crisis, refinancing funds may only be available at in-

creased market rates (refinancing costs), or they can only be made 

liquid at markdowns to market rates (market liquidity risk).

2.1 Liquidity risk management

Processes and organisational structures ensure that liquidity risks are 

indentified, uniformly measured, controlled and monitored, as well as 

being included in risk reporting. The liquidity risk regulations, which 

include the LLB Group’s risk tolerance criteria, are regularly reviewed 

by the Group Executive Board and approved by the Group Board of 

Directors. The liquidity risk limits to be observed by the LLB Group are 

stipulated in the regulations.

The objectives of the LLB Group’s liquidity risk management include 

the following points:

 ◆ the ability to meet financial obligations at all times

 ◆ compliance with regulatory provisions

 ◆ optimisation of the refinancing structure

 ◆ optimisation of payment streams within the LLB Group

2.2 Valuation of liquidity risks

In our liquidity risk management concept, scenario analysis plays  

a central role. This includes the valuation of the liquidity of assets, 

i.e. the liquidity characteristics of our asset holdings in various 

stress scenarios.

2.3 Contingency planning

The LLB Group’s liquidity risk management encompasses a contin-

gency plan. The contingency plan includes an overview of emer-

gency measures, sources of alternative financing and governance in 

stress situations.

2.4 Monitoring and reporting of liquidity risks

Group Credit & Risk Management monitors compliance with liquidity 

risk limits and is responsible for reporting on liquidity risks.

2.5 Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR)

The delegated regulation (EU) 2015 / 61, which came into force in Liech-

tenstein in January 2016, supplements the Capital Requirements 

 Regulation (CRR) in regard to liquidity coverage criteria for banks. The 

regulations are to ensure that banks possess a reasonable level of li-

quidity in order to cover their liquidity requirements in the case of  

a liquidity stress scenario within 30 calendar days. As the only binding 

regulatory liquidity reference figure, the LCR represents an important 

indicator both for liquidity risk measurement as well as liquidity risk 

control.

At the end of 2016, a regulatory LCR lower limit of 70 percent  

was applicable for the LLB Group. With a value of 115 percent, the 

LLB Group’s ratio was substantially higher than legally required.
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The following table shows the maturities according to contractual periods.

Maturity of financial assets and liabilities (nominal including coupons) *

in CHF thousands Sight deposits Callable

Due  
within  

3 months

Due  
between  
3 months  

to 12 months

Due  
between  

12 months  
to 5 years

Due  
after  

5 years Total

31. 12. 2015

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks 2'559'972 0 0 0 0 0 2'559'972

Due from banks 410'235 0 2'508'005 1'170'631 100'198 0 4'189'069

Loans 170'011 331'929 1'764'295 1'681'120 5'820'478 1'755'921 11'523'753

Trading portfolio assets 0 0 0 18 929 1'623 2'569

Derivative financial instruments 0 0 49'350 11'811 339 513 62'013

Financial investments at fair value 0 0 70'794 181'017 721'413 121'973 1'095'197

Total financial assets 3'202'230 331'929 4'343'093 3'032'785 6'643'018 1'879'517 19'432'573

Financial liabilities

Due to banks 155'567 0 273'042 194'928 50'017 0 673'553

Due to customers 10'076'253 4'854'338 105'657 374'523 145'275 0 15'556'046

Derivative financial instruments 0 0 46'604 12'739 44'021 48'229 151'593

Debt issued 0 0 30'440 167'401 664'241 417'322 1'279'404

Total financial liabilities 10'383'413 4'854'338 409'138 736'852 859'532 417'322 17'660'596

Net liquidity exposure – 7'181'183 – 4'522'410 3'933'955 2'295'933 5'783'486 1'462'195 1'771'975

Off-balance sheet transactions 344'203 0 0 0 0 0 344'203

Contingent liabilities 60'106 0 0 0 0 0 60'106

Irrevocable promises 275'134 0 0 0 0 0 275'134

Deposit and call liabilities 8'964 0 0 0 0 0 8'964

*  Derivative financial instruments at replacement values.
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in CHF thousands Sight deposits Callable

Due  
within  

3 months

Due  
between  
3 months  

to 12 months

Due  
between  

12 months  
to 5 years

Due  
after 

 5 years Total

31. 12. 2016

Financial assets

Cash and balances with central banks 3'450'726 0 0 0 0 0 3'450'726

Due from banks 411'568 0 1'494'498 1'117'179 0 0 3'023'244

Loans 211'975 271'140 2'006'931 1'816'899 6'010'938 1'690'004 12'007'887

Trading portfolio assets 0 0 1 12 1'418 2'574 4'006

Derivative financial instruments 0 0 62'488 18'462 379 1'279 82'607

Financial investments at fair value 0 0 39'040 150'140 783'578 77'136 1'049'893

Total financial assets 4'156'875 271'140 3'540'470 3'084'229 6'795'934 1'769'714 19'618'363

Financial liabilities

Due to banks 109'314 0 192'805 239'817 80'017 0 621'953

Due to customers 9'662'008 4'814'828 590'059 562'192 105'865 30'309 15'765'261

Derivative financial instruments 0 0 62'832 22'249 38'724 38'171 161'976

Debt issued 0 0 27'253 208'283 639'049 403'128 1'277'713

Total financial liabilities 9'933'299 4'814'828 810'117 1'010'292 824'931 433'437 17'826'903

Net liquidity exposure – 5'776'423 – 4'543'688 2'730'353 2'073'937 5'971'004 1'336'277 1'791'460

Off-balance sheet transactions 326'748 0 0 0 0 0 326'748

Contingent liabilities 62'839 0 0 0 0 0 62'839

Irrevocable promises 254'805 0 0 0 0 0 254'805

Deposit and call liability 9'104 0 0 0 0 0 9'104

*  Derivative financial instruments at replacement values.
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Expected loss
Expected loss is a future-related, statistical concept that permits the 

LLB Group to estimate the average annual costs that could be in-

curred if positions in the current portfolio are classified as at risk. It 

is calculated on the basis of the default probability of a counterparty, 

the expected credit commitment made to this counterparty at the 

time of the default, and the magnitude of the loss given default.

Value-at-risk concept
The value-at-risk approach aims at computing the size of fluctuations 

in credit losses incurred by means of a statistical model and to show 

the change in the risk status of the credit portfolio. 

Rating classes (master scale)

LLB rating Description External rating (Moody's) **

1 to 4 Investment grade AAA, Aa1, Aa2, Aa3, A1, A2, A3, Baa1, Baa2, Baa3

5 to 8, not rated * Standard monitoring Ba1, Ba2, Ba3, B1, B2

9 to 10 Special monitoring B3, Caa, Ca, C

11 to 14 Sub-standard Default

*  Non-rated loans are covered and subject to limits.
**  For the securitisation of credit risks in the standard approach, the LLB Group employs solely the external ratings of a recognised rating agency (for the segments: due from banks, 

finance companies and securities firms, due from companies and due from international organisations).

3 Credit risk

Within the scope of credit risk management, vital importance is at-

tached to the avoidance of credit risks and the early identification of 

default risks. In addition to systematic risk / return management at the 

individual loan level, the LLB Group proactively manages its credit risks 

at the credit portfolio level. The primary objective is to reduce the over-

all level of risk through diversification and a stabilisation of expected 

returns.

3.1 Credit risk management

Processes and organisational structures ensure that credit risks are 

identified, uniformly evaluated, controlled, monitored and included in 

risk reporting.

Basically, the LLB Group conducts its lending business for private 

and corporate clients on a secured basis. The process of granting a loan 

is based on a thorough evaluation of the borrower’s creditworthiness, 

the possible impairment and the legal existence of collateral, as well 

as risk classification in a rating process performed by experienced 

credit specialists. The granting of loans is subject to a specified assign-

ment of authority. A major characteristic of the credit approval process 

is the separation between front and back office functions.

In addition, the LLB Group conducts lending business with banks on 

a secured and unsecured basis, whereby individual risk limits are ap-

proved for every counterparty.

3.2 Evaluation of credit risks

The consistent evaluation of credit risks represents an essential pre-

requisite of successful risk management. The credit risk can be broken 

down into the components: probability of default, loss given default 

and the exposure at the time point of the default.

Probability of default 
The LLB Group assesses the probability of default of individual coun-

terparties by means of an internal rating system. The different rating 

procedures are adapted to suit the different characteristics of borrow-

ers. The credit risk management ratings employed for banks and debt 

instruments are based on external ratings from recognised rating 

agencies.

The reconciliation of the internal rating with the external rating is 

carried out in accordance with the following master scale.

Loss given default
The loss given default is influenced by the amount of collateralisation 

and the costs of realising the collateral. It is expressed as a percentage 

of the individual commitment.

The potential loss at portfolio level is broken down as follows at the 

LLB Group.
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Scenario analysis
The modelling of external credit losses is performed on the basis of 

stress scenarios, which enable us to evaluate the effects of fluctua-

tions in the default rates of the assets pledged as collateral taking into 

consideration the existing risk concentration in every portfolio.

3.3 Controlling credit risk

Credit risk management has the task of actively influencing the risk 

situation of the LLB Group. This is carried out using a limits system, 

risk-adjusted pricing, through the possibility of using risk hedging in-

struments and the specific repayment of credit commitments. Risk 

management is conducted both at the individual loan and at the port-

folio level.

Risk restriction 
The LLB Group has in place a comprehensive limits system to restrict 

credit risk exposure. In addition to the limitation of individual credit 

risks, to prevent risk concentrations, the LLB Group assigns limits for 

countries, segments and sectors.

Risk mitigation 
To mitigate credit risk exposure, the LLB Group takes security mainly in 

the form of pledged assets and financial collateral. In the case of finan-

cial collateral in the form of marketable securities, we determine their 

collateral value by applying a schedule of reductions, the size of which 

is based on the quality, liquidity, volatility, and complexity of the 

separate instruments.

Derivatives
The LLB Group may employ credit derivatives to reduce risks. This 

possibility has not been utilised in recent years.

3.4 Monitoring and reporting of credit risks

The organisational structure of the LLB Group ensures that depart-

ments which cause the risks and those that evaluate, manage and 

monitor them are completely separated.

Individual credit risks are monitored by means of a comprehensive 

limits system. Infringements are immediately reported to the senior 

officer responsible.

3.5 Risk provisioning

Overdue claims
A claim is deemed to be overdue if a substantial liability from a bor-

rower to the bank is outstanding. The overdraft begins on the date 

when a borrower exceeds an approved limit, has not paid interest or 

amortisation, or has utilised an unauthorised credit facility.

Specific valuation allowances are made for claims that are over-

due by more than 90 days.

Default-endangered claims
Claims are regarded as being in danger of default if, on the basis of the 

client’s creditworthiness, a loan default can no longer be excluded in 

the near future.

Specific value allowances
Each impaired claim is individually assessed and the restructuring 

strategy as well as the estimate of future recoverable amounts are 

determined. An individual value allowance is allocated on the basis of 

these criteria.

3.6 Country risks

A country risk arises if specific political or economic conditions in  

a country affect the value of a foreign position. Country risk is com-

posed of transfer risk (e.g. restrictions on the free movement of money 

and capital) and other country risks (e.g. country-related liquidity, 

market and correlation risks).

Country risks are controlled on the basis of a limits system and are 

continually monitored. Ratings provided by a recognised rating agency 

are utilised for certain individual countries.
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3.7 Maximum credit risk without considering collateral

in CHF thousands 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 Average

Credit risks from balance sheet transactions

Due from banks 3'114'861 4'254'074 3'684'468

Loans

Mortgage loans 9'956'289 9'548'989 9'752'639

Loans to public authorities 82'441 82'975 82'708

Other loans 1'500'145 1'359'526 1'429'836

Trading portfolio assets

Fixed-interest securities 3'772 2'440 3'106

Derivative financial instruments 82'607 62'012 72'310

Financial investments at fair value

Fixed-interest securities 1'053'057 1'072'579 1'062'818

Total 15'793'172 16'382'595 16'087'885

Credit risks from off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 62'839 60'106 61'473

Irrecoverable commitments 254'805 275'134 264'969

Liabilities from calls on share and other equities 9'104 8'964 9'034

Total 326'748 344'204 335'476

The largest credit risk for the LLB Group arises from loans made to 

banks and loans made to customers. In the case of loans to custom-

ers, the majority of loans are secured by mortgages, which are granted 

to clients having first-class creditworthiness within the scope of the 

LLB Group’s lending policy. Thanks to the diversified nature of the 

 collateral portfolio, containing properties in the Principality of 

Liechtenstein and in Switzerland, the risk of losses is reduced to a min-

imum. The LLB Group undertakes bank investments on both a secured 

and an unsecured basis. The risk of losses with loans to banks is re-

stricted, on the one hand, through a broad distribution of risks and, 

on the other, by the strict minimum lending requirements applied to 

the counterparties. 
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3.8 Due from banks and loans

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Loans
Due from  

banks Loans
Due from 

banks

Neither overdue nor value allowance made 11'297'277 3'114'861 10'698'117 4'254'074

Overdue but no value allowance made 98'411 0 112'226 0

Overdue, value allowance made (specific) 85'781 0 90'591 0

Default-stressed, value allowance made (specific) 164'405 0 201'601 0

Value allowance made (general) 0 0 903 0

Gross 11'645'874 3'114'861 11'103'438 4'254'074

Minus allowances (specific) – 106'999 0 – 111'948 0

Net 11'538'875 3'114'861 10'991'490 4'254'074

Due from banks and loans neither overdue nor allowances made

in CHF thousands
Mortgage  

loans
Loans to public 

authorities
Other  
loans

Total  
loans

Due from  
banks

31. 12. 2015

Investment grade 4'139'807 3'003 855'958 4'998'768 2'644'682

Standard monitoring 4'894'123 79'972 384'037 5'358'132 1'609'392

Special monitoring 244'598 0 56'778 301'376 0

Sub-standard 39'464 0 377 39'841 0

Total 9'317'992 82'975 1'297'150 10'698'117 4'254'074

31. 12. 2016

Investment grade 4'187'107 1'002 1'308'453 5'496'562 1'918'105

Standard monitoring 5'267'718 81'439 81'318 5'430'475 1'196'756

Special monitoring 296'036 0 33'451 329'487 0

Sub-standard 40'582 0 171 40'753 0

Total 9'791'443 82'441 1'423'393 11'297'277 3'114'861
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Loans overdue but no allowances made

in CHF thousands Mortgage loans
Loans to public 

authorities Other loans Total loans

31. 12. 2015

Overdue by up to 30 days 53'073 0 52'366 105'440

Overdue 31 to 60 days 0 0 6'504 6'504

Overdue 61 to 90 days 0 0 283 283

Total 53'073 0 59'153 112'226

31. 12. 2016

Overdue by up to 30 days 27'206 0 63'233 90'439

Overdue 31 to 60 days 380 0 7'234 7'614

Overdue 61 to 90 days 50 0 308 358

Total 27'636 0 70'775 98'411

Loans with specific allowances

in CHF thousands Mortgage loans
Loans to public 

authorities Other loans Total loans Due from banks

31. 12. 2015

Overdue Claims 35'453 0 55'138 90'591 0

Default-distressed claims 173'600 0 28'001 201'601 0

Fair value of cover – 177'915 0 – 2'329 – 180'244 0

Total specific value allowances 31'138 0 80'810 111'948 0

31. 12. 2016

Overdue claims 30'361 0 55'420 85'781 0

Default-distressed claims 137'279 0 27'126 164'405 0

Fair value of cover – 137'792 0 – 5'395 – 143'187 0

Total specific value allowances 29'848 0 77'151 106'999 0

 
Newly agreed loans
Newly agreed loans are not substantial.
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3.9 Overdue and default-distressed claims by geographical area

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands

Default  
distressed 

claims
Overdue  

claims

Specific  
value  

allowance

Default  
distressed 

claims
Overdue  

claims

Specific  
value  

allowance

Liechtenstein and Switzerland 164'405 94'109 69'604 201'601 121'002 67'866

Europe excluding FL / CH 0 1'496 0 0 19'784 6'769

North America 0 1'632 0 0 2'399 0

Asia 0 49'238 562 0 15'437 539

Others 0 37'718 36'833 0 44'195 36'774

Total 164'405 184'193 106'999 201'601 202'817 111'948

3.10 Debt instruments

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands
Trading  

portfolio
Designation 

fair value Total
Trading  

portfolio
Designation 

fair value Total

AAA 0 615'806 615'806 698 569'577 570'275

AA1 to AA3 99 263'547 263'646 0 238'719 238'719

A1 to A3 2'205 149'956 152'161 728 156'883 157'611

Lower than A3 957 7'303 8'260 519 13'645 14'164

Without a rating 512 16'445 16'957 495 93'755 94'249

Total 3'772 1'053'057 1'056'830 2'440 1'072'579 1'075'019

3.11 Taken-over collateral

2016 2015

in CHF thousands
Financial 

investments
Real estate /  

Properties Total
Financial 

investments
Real estate /  

Properties Total

As at 1 January 0 1'018 1'018 0 0 0

Additions / (Disposals) 0 0 0 0 1'018 1'018

Profit / (Loss) 0 0 0 0 0 0

As at 31 December 0 1'018 1'018 0 1'018 1'018

Taken-over collateral is resold as soon as possible and is reported  

under financial investments, trading portfolio assets or investment 

property.
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3.12 Risk concentration

Risk concentration by regions

in CHF thousands
Liechtenstein / 

 Switzerland
Europe  

excl. FL / CH
North  

America Asia Others * Total

31. 12. 2015

Credit risks from balance sheet transactions

Due from banks 2'365'632 1'866'858 12'094 5'730 3'760 4'254'074

Loans

Mortgage loans 9'532'756 16'233 0 0 0 9'548'989

Loans to public authorities 82'975 0 0 0 0 82'975

Other loans 875'534 109'191 7'890 142'806 224'105 1'359'526

Trading portfolio

Fixed-interest securities 761 703 248 0 728 2'440

Derivative financial instruments 46'167 15'178 21 40 606 62'012

Financial investments at fair value

Fixed-interest securities 219'778 632'954 111'223 20'276 88'348 1'072'579

Total 13'123'603 2'641'117 131'476 168'852 317'547 16'382'595

Credit risks from off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 50'429 2'570 0 4'057 3'050 60'106

Irrevocable commitments 225'548 18'383 0 9'459 21'744 275'134

Liabilities from calls on shares and other equities 8'964 0 0 0 0 8'964

Total 284'941 20'953 0 13'516 24'794 344'204

31. 12. 2016

Credit risks from balance sheet transactions

Due from banks 1'745'874 1'293'140 14'169 50'638 11'040 3'114'861

Loans

Mortgage loans 9'931'047 25'242 0 0 0 9'956'289

Loans to public authorities 82'441 0 0 0 0 82'441

Other loans 890'463 158'702 1'658 272'570 176'752 1'500'145

Trading portfolio

Fixed-interest securities 1'266 2'015 0 0 491 3'772

Derivative financial instruments 52'204 25'262 88 152 4'901 82'607

Financial investments at fair value

Fixed-interest securities 321'773 544'532 122'405 32'248 32'099 1'053'057

Total 13'025'068 2'048'893 138'320 355'608 225'283 15'793'172

Credit risks from off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 53'688 2'231 0 4'556 2'364 62'839

Irrevocable commitments 214'057 6'662 0 4'829 29'257 254'805

Liabilities from calls on shares and other equities 9'104 0 0 0 0 9'104

Total 276'849 8'893 0 9'385 31'621 326'748

*  None of the categories summarised in the position “Others” exceeds 10 percent of the total volume.
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Risk concentration by sectors

in CHF thousands
Financial 

services
Real  

estate
Private  

households Others * Total

31. 12. 2015

Credit risks from balance sheet transactions

Due from banks 4'254'074 0 0 0 4'254'074

Loans

Mortgage loans 94'376 1'334'613 6'951'031 1'168'969 9'548'989

Loans to public authorities 0 0 0 82'975 82'975

Other loans 529'230 34'331 369'292 426'673 1'359'526

Trading portfolio

Fixed-interest securities 605 0 0 1'835 2'440

Derivative financial instruments 48'161 222 5'601 8'028 62'012

Financial investments at fair value

Fixed-interest securities 599'151 10'650 0 462'778 1'072'579

Total 5'525'597 1'379'816 7'325'924 2'151'258 16'382'595

Credit risks from off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 9'161 3'323 12'139 35'483 60'106

Irrevocable commitments 49'494 53'124 111'181 61'335 275'134

Liabilities from calls on shares and other equities 8'964 0 0 0 8'964

Total 67'619 56'447 123'320 96'818 344'204

31. 12. 2016

Credit risks from balance sheet transactions

Due from banks 3'114'861 0 0 0 3'114'861

Loans

Mortgage loans 121'424 1'495'041 7'144'906 1'194'918 9'956'289

Loans to public authorities 0 0 0 82'441 82'441

Other loans 240'799 34'357 530'319 694'670 1'500'145

Trading portfolio

Fixed-interest securities 3 0 0 3'769 3'772

Derivative financial instruments 70'310 87 4'657 7'553 82'607

Financial investments at fair value

Fixed-interest securities 448'910 10'294 0 593'853 1'053'057

Total 3'996'307 1'539'779 7'679'882 2'577'204 15'793'172

Credit risks from off-balance sheet transactions

Contingent liabilities 6'280 3'562 10'836 42'161 62'839

Irrevocable commitments 54'101 31'978 72'275 96'451 254'805

Liabilities from calls on shares and other equities 9'104 0 0 0 9'104

Total 69'485 35'540 83'111 138'612 326'748

*  None of the categories summarised in the position “Others” exceeds 10 percent of the total volume.
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4 Operational risk

The LLB Group defines operational risks as being the danger of losses 

due to the failure of internal procedures, people or IT systems or as  

a result of an external event. Legal risks form a part of operational 

risks. The LLB Group has in place an active and systematic process for 

managing operational risks. Policies and directives have been formu-

lated for the identification, control and management of this risk cat-

egory, which are valid for all Group companies. Potential and incurred 

losses from all organisational units, as well as significant external 

events, are recorded and evaluated promptly at the parent bank. In 

addition, the LLB Group collates and analyses risk ratios, e.g. from the 

areas of due diligence and employee transactions for own account. 

Ultimately, the risks are limited by means of internal rules and regula-

tions regarding organisation and control.

5 Strategic risk

For LLB Group, a strategic risk represents the endangering of a project-

ed business result due to the inadequate focusing of the Group on the 

political, economic, technological, social or ecological environment. 

Accordingly, these risks can arise as a result of an inadequate strategic 

decision-making process, unforeseeable events on the market or  

a deficient implementation of the selected strategies. 

Strategic risks are regularly reviewed by the Group Risk Committee 

and by the Group Board of Directors.

6 Reputational risk

If risks are not identified, adequately managed and monitored, this 

can lead not only to substantial financial losses, but also to reputa-

tional damage. LLB Group does not regard reputational risk as an in-

dependent risk category, but rather as the danger of additional losses 

stemming from the categories concerned. Consequently, a reputation-

al risk can both cause losses in all risk categories, such as market or 

credit risks, and be caused by such losses.

Reputational risks are regularly reviewed by the Group Risk Com-

mittee and by the Group Board of Directors.

7 Fair value of financial instruments

The following table shows the fair values of financial instruments, 

based on the valuation methods explained in the following, and as-

sumptions. The fair value represents a market-based measurement 

and not an entity- specific valuation. It is defined as the price that 

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the transaction 

date on the principal market or the most advantageous market. Details 

about the measurement of fair values are shown in note 34.
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Fair value of financial instruments

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands Carrying value Fair value Deviation Carrying value Fair value Deviation

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 3'450'726 3'450'726 0 2'559'972 2'559'972 0

Due from banks 3'114'861 3'116'584 1'723 4'254'074 4'260'282 6'208

Loans 11'538'876 12'090'778 551'902 10'991'490 11'623'046 631'556

Trading portfolio assets 3'781 3'781 0 2'450 2'450 0

Derivative financial instruments 82'607 82'607 0 62'013 62'013 0

Financial investments at fair value 1'438'618 1'438'618 0 1'438'608 1'438'608 0

Liabilities

Due to banks 622'932 624'153 – 1'221 673'634 675'052 – 1'418

Due to customers 15'860'465 15'939'393 – 78'928 15'627'049 15'719'261 – 92'212

Derivative financial instruments 161'976 161'976 0 151'593 151'593 0

Debt issued 1'228'035 1'289'599 – 61'564 1'213'244 1'289'414 – 76'170

Deviation between fair value and carrying value 411'911 467'964

The following valuation methods are applied in calculating the fair 

value of financial instruments:

Cash and balances with central banks and money market 
instruments
These financial instruments have a maturity or a refinancing profile  

of maximum one year. The book value corresponds approximately to 

fair value.

Due from / to banks, loans and due to customers
The fair value of these positions having a maturity or a refinancing pro-

file is determined using similar maturity swap rates. Replicate portfolios 

are employed for products for which fixed-interest rates or cash flows 

are not known in advance.

Trading portfolio assets, derivative financial instruments and 
financial investments at fair value through profit and loss
For the majority of financial instruments, fair value corresponds to the 

market value. The fair value of financial instruments without an es-

tablished market value is determined using generally accepted valua-

tion models.
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Subject to netting agreements Potential netting amounts

in CHF thousands
Gross amounts 
before netting

Netting 
amounts

On the 
balance sheet 

recognised 
amounts, net

Financial 
instruments

Financial 
collaterals

Amounts  
after 

potential 
netting

Amounts 
without 

potential 
netting

On the  
balance 

sheet 
recognised 

amounts

31. 12. 2015

Financial assets subject to off-setting,  
enforceable netting agreements  
or similar arrangements

Reverse repurchase agreements 884'088 0 884'088 0 – 778'478 105'610 0 884'088

Positive replacement values 62'012 0 62'012 – 8'066 – 57'361 – 3'414 0 62'012

Cash collateral receivables on derivative instru-
ments 112'769 0 112'769 – 112'769 0 0 0 112'769

Total assets 1'058'869 0 1'058'869 – 120'834 – 835'838 102'196 0 1'058'869

Financial liabilities subject to off-setting, 
enforceable netting agreements  
or similar arrangements

Reverse repurchase agreements 80'000 0 80'000 0 – 79'270 730 0 80'000

Negative replacement values 151'594 0 151'594 – 112'769 0 38'825 0 151'594

Cash collateral payables on  
derivative instruments 6'938 0 6'938 – 6'938 0 0 0 6'938

Total liabilities 238'531 0 238'531 – 119'706 – 79'270 39'555 0 238'531

31. 12. 2016

Financial assets subject to off-setting,  
enforceable netting agreements  
or similar arrangements

Reverse repurchase agreements 238'874 0 238'874 0 – 176'431 62'443 0 238'874

Positive replacement values 82'607 0 82'607 – 4'008 – 71'427 7'172 0 82'607

Cash collateral receivables on  
derivative instruments 118'747 0 118'747 – 118'747 0 0 0 118'747

Total assets 440'228 0 440'228 – 122'755 – 247'858 69'615 0 440'228

Financial liabilities subject to off-setting, 
enforceable netting agreements  
or similar arrangements

Reverse repurchase agreements 42'903 0 42'903 0 – 42'863 40 0 42'903

Negative replacement values 161'976 0 161'976 – 118'747 0 43'229 0 161'976

Cash collateral payables on  
derivative instruments 2'842 0 2'842 – 2'842 0 0 0 2'842

Total liabilities 207'721 0 207'721 – 121'589 – 42'863 43'269 0 207'721

The table below provides an overview of the financial assets and finan-

cial liabilities which are subject to an enforceable netting agreement 

or similar agreements. LLB Group has concluded agreements with 

various counterparties which permit netting. These are mainly agree-

ments in connection with securities lending and borrowing trans-

actions, reverse-repurchase deals and over-the-counter transactions 

LLB Group does not conduct netting with the financial assets and 

financial liabilities of balance sheet transactions because the legal re-

quirements for netting are not satisfied. Accordingly, the table below 

shows unnetted amounts in the balance sheet, risks therefore which 

the bank has accepted with the individual executed transactions, and 

which existed on the balance sheet date. The information provided in 

the table below does not represent the current credit risk in connec-

tion with the transactions conducted by LLB Group. 

8  Netting of financial assets and financial liabilities
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The Banking Law and Banking Ordinance of the Principality of Liech-

tenstein form the legal basis of capital adequacy requirements, which 

in turn are based on the directives of the Basel Committee on Banking 

Supervision as adapted by the European Union. 

In accordance with Basel III, the banks may choose from various 

approaches to calculate the capital requirements for credit, market 

and operational risks. The LLB Group applies the standard approach 

for credit risk, the basic indicator approach for operational risks, and 

the standard approach for market risks (trading book activities of 

insignificant materiality in accordance with Article 94 (1) CRR). The 

determination of capital requirements and tier capital is carried out 

on the basis of the IFRS consolidated financial statement, whereby 

non-realised gains are deducted from core capital. 

At the LLB Group, the scope of consolidation for determining capital 

requirements and for the financial accounts is identical. 

9.1 Segmentation of credit risks

Regulatory risk weighted

in CHF thousands 0 % 10 % 20 % 35 % 50 % 75 % 100 % 150 % 250 % Total

31. 12. 2016

Central governments and central 
banks 3'528'032 0 10'472 0 0 0 0 0 0 3'538'504

Regional governments 0 0 112'370 0 10'222 0 0 0 0 122'592

Public sector entities 0 0 50'758 0 0 0 0 0 0 50'758

International organisations 73'399 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73'399

Banks and securities firms 0 0 2'888'271 0 740'917 0 280 0 0 3'629'468

Corporates 0 0 87'255 0 113'625 0 1'043'159 40'811 0 1'284'849

Retail 0 0 0 0 0 263'921 520'703 0 0 784'624

Secured by real estate 0 0 1'849 7'570'622 1'573'117 0 679'629 0 0 9'825'216

In default 0 0 0 0 0 1'269 94'619 77'549 0 173'437

Equity 0 0 0 0 0 0 27'448 0 47 27'495

Covered bonds 0 175'030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 175'030

Collective investments and others 65'490 0 19'386 0 0 1 501'262 0 0 586'139

Total 3'666'921 175'030 3'170'361 7'570'622 2'437'881 265'192 2'867'099 118'361 47 20'271'513

Total previous year 2'831'199 95'501 4'594'176 7'298'124 2'012'106 236'711 2'821'944 84'528 0 19'974'289

9.2 Mitigation of credit risk

31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

in CHF thousands

Covered by  
recognised  
financial  

collateral
Covered by 
guarantees

Other  
credit  

commitments Total

Covered by 
recognised  
financial  

collateral
Covered by 
guarantees

Other  
credit  

commitments Total

Balance sheet positions 0 9'148 0 9'148 0 6'408 0 6'408

Off-balance sheet positions 0 352 0 352 0 50 0 50

Derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 9'499 0 9'499 0 6'458 0 6'458

9 Capital adequacy requirements (Pillar I)
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9.3 Leverage Ratio (LR)

A further integral part of the Basel III package is the leverage ratio 

which, with its comparison of unweighted on-balance sheet and 

off-balance sheet risk positions, on the one hand, and equity held, on 

the other, attempts to prevent the danger of financial institutes be-

coming excessively indebted. This reference ratio stands at 3.0 percent 

and is currently being monitored by the supervisory authority. It is not 

yet legally binding. At the end of the year 2016, the leverage ratio of 

LLB Group amounted to 7.8 percent.

10 Internal capital (Pillar II)

The financial market regulatory requirements with respect to quan-

titative risk management, which arise from Pillar II, are fulfilled by 

LLB Group by, among other measures, the conducting of a risk-bear-

ing capacity calculation. The objective of the risk-bearing capacity 

calculation is to ensure the continued existence of LLB Group. In line 

with this objective, the adequacy of the Group’s capital resources is 

tested using internal models. The results attained with the individual 

risk types are aggregated in a total risk potential and are compared 

with the capital available to cover these potential losses. This process 

enables the extent to be determined to which LLB Group is in a posi-

tion to bear potential losses. 

For the purpose of the calculation of its risk-bearing capacity,  

LLB Group employs a value-at-risk approach with a confidence level 

of 99.9 percent and a holding duration of one year. Correlations be-

tween the individual risk types are not considered. To underpin op-

erational risks, LLB Group applies the values from the basic indicator 

approach of Pillar I and adjusts them by adding a risk premium.

LLB Group’s financial strength should remain unimpaired by fluctu-

ations on the capital market. Scenario analyses and stress tests are 

employed to simulate external influences and assess their impact on 

equity capital. Where necessary, measures are taken to mitigate risks.



187
Assets under management

LLB Annual Report 2016

Assets under management
in CHF millions 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015 + / – %

Assets in own-managed funds 4'568 4'412 3.5

Assets with discretionary mandates 6'519 6'372 2.3

Other assets under management 35'341 34'786 1.6

Total assets under management (incl. double counting) 46'428 45'570 1.9

of which double counting 3'957 3'836 3.2

Net new money – 65 – 206 – 68.4

Breakdown of assets under management

in percent 31. 12. 2016 31. 12. 2015

By asset class

Equities 22.9 23.1

Bonds 17.3 17.4

Investment funds 23.4 22.9

Liquidity 32.8 33.7

Precious metals / others 3.6 2.9

Total 100.0 100.0

By currency

CHF 46.4 47.3

EUR 23.1 23.1

USD 23.7 23.1

Other 6.7 6.5

Total 100.0 100.0
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Calculation method

Assets under management comprise all client assets managed or held 

for investment purposes. Basically, these include all balances due to 

customers, fiduciary time deposits and all valued portfolio assets.

Also included are other types of client assets, which can be deduced 

from the principle of the investment purpose. Custody assets (assets 

held solely for transaction and safekeeping purposes) are not included 

in assets under management.

Assets in own-managed funds

This item comprises the assets of the LLB Group’s own investment 

funds.

Assets with discretionary mandates

Securities, value rights, precious metals, the market value of fiduciary 

investments with third parties and customer deposits are included in 

the calculation of assets with discretionary mandates. The figures 

comprise both assets deposited with Group companies and assets 

deposited with third parties, for which the Group companies hold  

a discretionary mandate.

Other assets under management

Securities, value rights, precious metals, the market value of fiduciary 

investments with third parties and customer deposits are included in 

the calculation of other assets under management. The figures com-

prise assets, for which an administration or advisory mandate is 

exercised.

Double counting

This item comprises fund units in own-managed funds which are con-

tained in client portfolios with discretionary mandates and in other 

client safekeeping accounts.

Net new money

This position is composed of the acquisition of new clients, lost client 

accounts and inflows or outflows from existing clients. Perfor-

mance-related asset fluctuations, e.g. price gains, interest and divi-

dend payments including interest, commissions and expenses charged 

to client accounts, are not regarded as inflows or outflows. Acquisi-

tion-related changes to assets will also not be considered. During the 

year under report, client assets amounting to net CHF 75 million were 

reclassified as custody assets.


